
City of Bethel 
         P.O. Box 1388 

    Bethel, Alaska 99559 

      Phone: 907- 543-2047 

         Fax: 907-543-3781 

Regular City Council Meeting 

Tuesday, June 26, 2018 

    6:30 P.M. 

Council Chambers; Bethel, Alaska 



Agenda posted on June 20, 2018 at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office. 

_________________________     
Kevin Morgan, Asst. City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing July 10, 2018. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
June 26, 2018 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

Rick Robb 
Mayor 
Term Expires 2018 
rrobb@cityofbethel.net 

Fred Watson 
Vice-Mayor 
Term Expires 2018 
fwatson@cityofbethel.net 

Leif Albertson 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2019 
lalbertson@cityofbethel.net  

Mark Springer 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2018 
msprigner@cityofbethel.net  

Thor Williams 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2019 
twilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Mitchell Forbes  
Council Member  
Term Expires 2019 
mforbes@cityofbethel.net 

Brian Henry 
Council Member 
Term Expires 2018 
bhenry@cityofbethel.net 

Pete Williams 
City Manager 
543-2047 
pwilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Lori Strickler 
City Clerk 
543-1384 
lstrickler@cityofbethel.net  

Patty Burley 
City Attorney 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

III. ROLL CALL

IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD – Five minutes per person

V. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA AND REGULAR AGENDA

VI. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES

a) *6-5-2018 Special City Council Meeting 

b) *6-7-2018 Special City Council Meeting 

c) *6-12-2018 Regular City Council Meeting 

d) *6-14-2018 Special City Council Meeting 

VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEE

VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS

a) Healthfitness Monthly Report (Mayor Robb)

IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

a) Public Hearing Of Ordinance 18-13: Amending Bethel Municipal Code 5.08, Alcoholic
Beverages To Require Licensed And Bonded Security Guards At All Establishments
Selling Alcohol Other Than Beer And Wine (Council Member Albertson)

b) Public Hearing Of Budget Ordinance 17-28(p): Amending The Adopted Annual FY
2018 Budget- General Fund, Purchased Services/Other Professional Services, General
Fund And Enterprise Fund Commercial Insurance (City Manager Williams)

X. NEW BUSINESS

a) *Introduction of Ordinance 18-14: Amending Bethel Municipal Code 4.16.160, Sales 
Tax, Tax Exemptions, Making All Real Estate Sales Tax Exempt (Council Member 
Williams) 

b) *Introduction of Ordinance 18-15: Amending Bethel Municipal Code 4.16, Sales Taxes 
To Add A Provision For A Use Tax On Alcoholic Beverages (Council Member Forbes) 

c) *Introduction of Budget Ordinance 18-12(a): Amending the Adopted Annual FY 2019 
Budget- Community Services (City Manager Williams) 

d) AM 18-50: Direct Administration, With Assistance From DOWL, To Negotiate And
Execute MOUs Or Service Agreements With State DOT&PF Involving The
Maintenance Of Six Roads In Bethel (City Manager Williams)

p.47

p.65

p.70

p.71

p.73

p.74

mailto:rrobb@cityofbethel.net
mailto:fwatson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lalbertson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:msprigner@cityofbethel.net
mailto:twilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:mforbes@cityofbethel.net
mailto:bhenry@cityofbethel.net
mailto:pwilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lstrickler@cityofbethel.net


Agenda posted on June 20, 2018 at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office. 

_________________________     
Kevin Morgan, Asst. City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing July 10, 2018. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
June 26, 2018 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

e) AM 18-51: Authorize And Approve City Administration To Issue Checks Totaling
$13,872.50 To Quarter 2 Community Action Grant Awardees Based On The
Community Action Grant Technical Review Board’s (CAGTRB) Work On Scoring
Applications And Deciding How To Divide Up The Funds Available (City Manager
Williams)

f) *IM 18-09: Financial Reports For Ten-Month Period Ending April 30, 2018 And May 
2018 Water & Wastewater Activity Report (City Manager Williams) 

g) *IM 18-10: Budget To Actual Financial Report For The 10 Months Ended April 30, 
2018 (City Manager Williams) 

XI. MAYOR’S REPORT
XII. MANAGER’S REPORTS

XIII. CLERK’S REPORT

XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS

XV. EXECUTIVE SESSION

a) In Accordance With AS 44.62.310(c)1: Matters, The Immediate Knowledge Of Which
Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The Public Entity- Court
House Leased Property Contract (City Manager Williams)

b) In Accordance With AS 44.62.310(c)1: Matters, The Immediate Knowledge Of Which
Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The Public Entity- Real
Estate Taxes (Council Member Williams)

XVI. ADJOURNMENT

p.87

p.88

p.99



 

Approval of the Meeting Minutes 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 



1 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 5, 2018 

Special Meeting 
June 5, 2018 

 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER   

 
A Special Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on June 5, 2018 at 6:30 p.m., in 
the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 
 
Vice-Mayor Fred Watson called the meeting to order at 6:31 p.m.  

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ROLL CALL 

 

 
Mayor Robb arrived at 6:33 p.m. 
 
Council Member Springer arrived at 6:34 p.m. 
 

IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD   
 
Mary Nanuwak – Stated her hope that certain City Council Members found what they 
are looking for in the candidates for Council.   
 
Brian Henry- Stated his interest in serving on City Council.  
 

V. APPROVAL OF THE REGULAR AGENDA 
 

Main Motion: Approve the Agenda.  

Moved by: Forbes 
Seconded by: Springer 

          City Council Meeting  
       City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

Mayor Rick Robb Council Member Mark Springer 

Vice-Mayor Fred Watson Council Member Thor Williams 

Council Member Leif Albertson Council Member Mitchell Forbes   

 Also in attendance were the following: 

City Manager Pete Williams City Clerk Lori Strickler 

City Attorney Patty Burley  

5



2 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 5, 2018 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

Item A – Appointment Of Qualified Individual To Fill City Council Vacancy, Term 
Ending October, 2018.  

 

Fritz Charles addressed the City Council.  

Anny Cochrane addressed the City Council.  

Brian Henry addressed the City Council.  

Mary Nanuwak addressed the City Council.  
 
Council Members asked questions of the candidates.  

 

Main Motion: Nominate Brian Henry.   

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Main Motion: Nominate Anny Cochran.  

Moved by: Forbes 
Seconded by: Williams  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Main Motion: Nominate Fritz Charles.  

Moved by: Watson 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-2 

In favor:  Robb   Watson     Springer   Forbes 

Opposed:  Williams   Albertson 

 
Mary Nanuwak was nominated by the Council on the May 29, 2018 Special Meeting.  
 

Round one:  
 
Council Member Springer: Brian Henry 

6



3 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 5, 2018 

Council Member Albertson: Mary Nanuwak  
Council Member Williams: Brian Henry 
Council Member Forbes: Anny Cochrane  
Vice-Mayor Watson: Brian Henry 
Mayor Robb: Anny Cochrane 

 
Round two:  
 
Council Member Springer: Brian Henry 
Council Member Albertson: Mary Nanuwak 
Council Member Forbes: Anny Cochrane 
Council Member Williams: Brian Henry 
Vice-Mayor Watson: Brian Henry 
Mayor Robb: Anny Cochrane 
 
Round three:  
 
Council Member Springer: Brian Henry 
Council Member Albertson: Mary Nanuwak 
Council Member Forbes: Anny Cochrane 
Council Member Williams: Brian Henry 
Vice-Mayor Watson: Brian Henry 
Mayor Robb: Brian Henry 
 
Council Member Brian Henry read his oath of office and took his seat at the Council 
bench. 

 

Item B – Appointment Of Council Representative To Committee and Commission. 

 
Mayor Robb appointed Council Member Brian Henry to the Public Safety and 
Transportation Commission, with Council’s concurrence.  

 

Item C – Reviewing/Amending the Proposed Fiscal Year 2019 City of Bethel Budget. 

 
Main Motion: Amend 10-54-727, Planning Department Advertising to insert $2,000.  

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-2 

In favor:  Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  Robb   Watson 

 
Main Motion: Move into a committee of the whole.  

Moved by: Springer 

7



4 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 5, 2018 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-2 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  Watson   Williams   

 
Main Motion: Move out of Committee of the Whole 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-1 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  Williams   

 

Main Motion: 

Amend 10-70-69X to establish a new line item titled Wheelchair Ramp Replacement 
–Public Works in the amount of $20,000.  

Amending 18901 to strike $13,856 and insert $14,000 and amend 18902 to strike 

$11,888 and insert $14,000.   
Amend 10-70-591, Carpentry Supplies to strike $30,000 and insert $10,000.  

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Springer 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  0 

 
Primary 

Amendment: 
Amend 10-70-69X Wheelchair Ramp Replacement to insert “City Hall” after 
Wheelchair Ramp Replacement to strike $40,000 and insert $30,000.  

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 0-7 

In favor: 0 

Opposed:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

 
Primary 

Amendment: Amend 10-70-69X, to strike Wheelchair Ramp Replacement-Public Works $20,000.  

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-2 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  Williams   Watson   

 
Main Motion: Extend the meeting 15 minutes.    

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Williams 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-3 

In favor:  Albertson   Springer   Williams   Henry 

Opposed:  Forbes  Watson   Robb   

 
Main Motion: Amend 51-80-690 Utility Billing Capital Expenses to insert $20,000. 

8



5 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 5, 2018 

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  0 

 
Main Motion: Amend 51-80-998 to strike $29,145 and insert $49,145.  

Moved by: Williams 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  0 

 
Primary 

Amendment: Amend to strike $49,145 and insert $39,145.  

Moved by: Watson 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  0 

 
VII. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

Main Motion: Adjournment.  

Moved by: Watson 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  0 

 
 
Council adjourned at 9:50 p.m. 
 
 
 

 
_________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk   

9



1 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 7, 2018 

Special Meeting 
June 7, 2018 

 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER   

 
A Special Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on June 7, 2018 at 6:30 p.m., in 
the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 
 
Mayor Richard Robb called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ROLL CALL 

 

 
IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD   
  
V. APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT AND REGULAR AGENDA 

 
Main Motion: Approve the Consent and Regular Agenda.  

Moved by: Williams 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

In favor:  Robb    Albertson   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
 
 

          City Council Meeting  
       City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

Mayor Rick Robb Council Member Thor Williams 

Council Member Leif Albertson Council Member Mitchell Forbes   

Members Absent:   

Vice-Mayor Fred Watson Council Member Brian Henry 

Council Member Mark Springer  

 Also in attendance were the following: 

City Manager Pete Williams City Clerk Lori Strickler 

City Attorney Patty Burley  

10



2 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 7, 2018 

Primary 
Amendment: Remove Unfinished Business Items A and B.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

Item A – Reviewing/Amending the Proposed Fiscal Year 2019 City of Bethel Budget. 

 
Main Motion: Move into Committee of the Whole.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson 
Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 3-1 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Forbes   

Opposed:  Williams   

 

Main Motion: 
Amend 10-52-683 to strike $26,000 and insert $5,000 and amend 10-52-669 to 
strike $14,000 and insert $9,000.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson 
Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 2-2  

In favor:  Albertson   Forbes   

Opposed:  Robb   Williams   

 
Main Motion: Amend to strike the revenue in line item 51-45-471 and 51-45-472 

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 1-3 

In favor:  Williams   

Opposed:  Albertson   Forbes   Robb   

 

Main Motion: 
Amend Water and Sewer Utility Fund under Capital Outlay, USDA Wastewater PER 
$365,650 and insert 382,320.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-0 

In favor:  Robb  Albertson   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
 
 
 
 

11



3 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 7, 2018 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Main Motion: Motion to adjourn.  

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Williams  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-0  

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed: 0 

 
Council adjourned at 8:50 p.m. 
 
 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk   

12



1 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 12, 2018 

Regular Meeting 
June 12, 2018 

 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER   

 
A Regular Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on June 12, 2018 at 6:30 p.m., in 
the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 
 
Mayor Richard Robb called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ROLL CALL 

 

 
IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD   

 
Beverly Hoffman- Requested the Council begin enforcing the plastic bag and 
Styrofoam container ordinance.  
 
Cezary Maczynski- Stated concerns related to the dust in the air from the roads. 
Spoke in opposition to Ordinance 18-10.  
 
Mary Nanuwak – Spoke in favor of the transit system. Urged the council not to cut 
funding as the transit system provides a much needed service. Spoke about 
Ordinance 18-10. Concerned that lowering the alcohol percentage might have a 
secondary effect of causing those who abuse alcohol to mix other substances with 
their alcohol, causing dangerous health problems. 

          City Council Meeting  
       City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

Mayor Rick Robb Council Member Thor Williams 

Vice-Mayor Fred Watson Council Member Mitchell Forbes   

Council Member Leif Albertson Council Member Mark Springer (Teleconference)  

Members Absent:   

Council Member Brian Henry  

 Also in attendance were the following: 

City Manager Pete Williams City Clerk Lori Strickler 

City Attorney Patty Burley (Teleconference)  

13



2 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 12, 2018 

V. APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT AND REGULAR AGENDA 
 

Main Motion: Approve the Consent and Regular Agenda.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Williams 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
Removal from 

Consent: Remove Item A, B, and C under New Business from the Consent Agenda.  

Moved by: Williams 

 
Primary 

Amendment: Move item E under Unfinished Business to follow Council Member Comments.   

Moved by: Williams 
Seconded by: Albertson  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
 

VI. APPROVAL OF THE MEETING MINUTES 
 
Item A –5-17-2018 Special City Council Meeting 
Passed on the Consent Agenda 
 
Item B –5-22-2018 Regular City Council Meeting  
Passed on the Consent Agenda 
 
Item C –5-24-2018 Special City Council Meeting 
Passed on the Consent Agenda 
 
Item D –5-29-2018 Special City Council Meeting 
Passed on the Consent Agenda 
 
Item E –5-31-2018 Special City Council Meeting  
Passed on the Consent Agenda 
 
 

VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
 

Public Safety and Transportation Commission – 
A meeting was not held due to a lack of a quorum.  
 

14



3 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 12, 2018 

Port Commission -  
A meeting has not been held.  
 
Planning Commission -  
Planning Commission will hold a meeting on Thursday.  
 
Parks, Recreation, Aquatic Health and Safety Center Committee  - 
The Committee provided an update on the 4th of July Celebration.  
The first ever Pinky’s Park Cleanup Day was a great success.  
Stated concerns related to the multipurpose field/soccer field and the Owl Park work 
not being completed.  
Summer Programs at the pool are going well, there are many lifeguards being trained.  
There will be an art insulation at the pool on Friday with a small reception.  
 
Finance Committee - 
A meeting was not held due to a lack of a quorum.  
 
Public Works Committee - 
A meeting has not been held since the last City Council meeting.  
 

VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 

IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

Item A – Public Hearing of Ordinance 18-10: Amending Bethel Municipal Code 5.08, 
Alcoholic Beverages To Prohibit The Sale Of Alcohol With An Alcohol By Volume 
Percentage Higher Than 20% In The City Of Bethel. 

Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No one present to be heard. 

Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing. 
 

Main Motion: Motion to Adopt Ordinance 18-10 was made on May 22, 2018. 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 2-4 

In favor:  Albertson   Forbes   

Opposed:  Williams   Springer   Robb   Watson   

 
 
Item B – Public Hearing of Budget Ordinance 17-28(m): Change To IT Dept. Other 
Professional Services. 

Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No one present to be heard. 

Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing. 

15



4 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 12, 2018 

 
 
 

Main Motion: Motion to Adopt Budget Ordinance 17-28(m) was made on May 22, 2018. 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-1 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   

Opposed:  Williams   

 

Item C – Public Hearing of Ordinance 18-11: Submitting To The Qualified Voters Of 
The City Of Bethel, On October 2, 2018, A Ballot Proposition Initiated Through Local 
Option Petition. 

Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No one present to be heard. 

Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing. 
 

Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 18-11. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
 
Item D – Public Hearing of Budget Ordinance 17-28(n): Amending The Adopted 
Annual FY 2018 Budget- Change To Administrative Dept. - Change To City Clerk’s 
Dept. 

Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No one present to be heard. 

Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing. 
 

Main Motion: Motion to Adopt Budget Ordinance 17-28(n). 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 

Item F – Public Hearing Of Budget Ordinance 17-28(o): Amending The Adopted 
Annual FY 2018 Budget- Cost Of Living Salary And Utility Services Cost Increases For 
City Of Bethel Employees. 

Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 

16



5 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 12, 2018 

No one present to be heard. 
Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing. 

 
 

Main Motion: Motion to Adopt Budget Ordinance 17-28(o) was made on May 29, 2018. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 

X. NEW BUSINESS 
 

Item A – Introduction Of Ordinance 18-13: Amending Bethel Municipal Code 5.08, 
Alcoholic Beverages To Require Licensed And Bonded Security Guards At All 
Establishments Selling Alcohol Other Than Beer And Wine. 

 
Main Motion: Introduce Ordinance 18-13. 

Moved by: Albertson 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-1 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  Watson   

 
Primary 

Amendment: 

Amend to strike under effective date “June 15, 2018” and insert “30 days after the 

passage by the City Council”.  

Moved by: Alberton 

Seconded by: Forbes  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
Subsidiary Motion: Motion to suspend the rules to hear from the Chief of Police.  

Moved by: Albertson 
Seconded by: Williams  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
Primary 

Amendment: 

Amend to strike under 5.08.110 E. 3 to strike “two (2) weeks” and insert “thirty 

days” 

Moved by: Alberton 
Seconded by: Forbes  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

17



6 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 12, 2018 

Opposed:  0 

 
 
Item B – Introduction Of Budget Ordinance 17-28(p): Amending The Adopted Annual 
FY 2018 Budget- General Fund, Purchased Services/Other Professional Services, 
General Fund And Enterprise Fund Commercial Insurance. 

 
Main Motion: Introduce Budget Ordinance 17-28(p). 

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-2 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   

Opposed:  Williams   Watson   

 

Item C – AM 18-43: Authorizing The City Attorney To Travel To Houston For The 
Annual IMLA Training. 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 18-43. 

Moved by: Forbes 
Seconded by: Springer 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-2 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   

Opposed:  Williams   Watson   

 
Item D – AM 18-44: Direct Administration To Pursue The Development Of A Set 
Number Of Utility Crossings In Strategic Locations To Facilitate Installation Of Piped 
Water And Sewer To Residents. 

Main Motion: Approve AM 18-44. 

Moved by: Albertson 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-1 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   

Opposed:  Williams   

 

Item E – AM 18-45: Direct Administration To Negotiate And Execute The Master 
Equipment Lease Purchase Agreement From The Lessor Community First National 
Bank That Will Allow The City To Purchase One Road Watering Truck.  

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 18-45. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-1 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   

18



7 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 12, 2018 

Opposed:  Williams   

 
 

Item F – AM 18-46: Authorize The City Manager To Negotiate And Execute A 
Contract Renewal With Health Fitness For An Additional Two (2) Years Of Professional 
Services Managing The Health Facility. 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 18-46. 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Springer 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes  

Opposed:  0 

 

Item G – AM 18-47: Authorize The City Manager To Dispose Of City Property Via Sale 
Or Lease Pursuant To The Provisions Set Out In Bethel Municipal Code 04.08.030 . 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 18-47. 

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 

Primary 

Amendment: 

Amend to Direct Administration to take the necessary steps to release a bid to lease 
the property identified.   

Amend to strike the last two sentences of the AM.   

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
Secondary 

Amendment: Amend to strike “sell or” in the third paragraph, second sentence.  

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Albertson 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 

Item H – AM 18-48: To Start The Process Of Declaring And Set A Possible Hearing 
Date To Address 220 Osage As A Nuisance Property. 

19



8 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 12, 2018 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 18-48. 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
Main Motion: Set a hearing date for June 28th.  

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 

Item I – AM 18-49: Direct Administration To Negotiate And Execute The Purchase Of 
Five Sewer Haul Trucks Per The Revised Scope Of Work For The USDA-RD Grant/Loan 
Funding The Sewer Lagoon Jetty Repair & Sewer Trucks  

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 18-49. 

Moved by: Forbes 
Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 

Item J – Personal Leave Request- City Clerk- June 22 and 25, 2018. 

 

XI. MAYOR’S REPORT 
XII. MANAGER’S REPORT 
XIII. CLERK’S REPORT 
XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 

 
Mayor Richard Robb –  
Wished everyone happy fishing and safe boating.  
Informed the public that the City continues to chip away at important issues to help 
improve the quality of life in Bethel.  
 
Vice-Mayor Fred Watson –  
Coming to the end of the budget season and stated concerns that the public isn’t 
involved with the budget process.  
Hoped a lot of people got fish today.  
 

20



9 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 12, 2018 

Council Member Leif Albertson – 
Invited council members to attend the Bethel Half Marathon.  
Informed the community that there is a dust monitor in Bethel that went online a few 
days ago. Suggested the best way to improve air quality is to slow down.  
 
 
Council Member Mark Springer –  
Brought up the passing of John Active and what an impact his life made to our 
community and Region. He is missed.  
Recognized that June is Pride month and gave a shout out to LGBT Community.  
Concurred with Council Member Williams statement regarding dust.  
 
Council Member Thor Williams–  
Hoped people got fish today to feed their family in a traditional way.  
If people slow down, the dust doesn’t’ spread like it does for higher speeds.  
Looks like the Department of Transportation is on the highway marking the road.  
If you are a 4-wheeler, please stay off the highway.  
 
Council Member Mitchell Forbes– 
Suggested people start thinking about joining City Council, the filing deadline is 
August 20.  
 

NEW BUSINESS 

Item E – Public Hearing of Ordinance 18-12: Establishing A City Of Bethel Budget For 
Fiscal Year 2019 Beginning July 1, 2018.  

Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No one present to be heard. 

Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing. 
 

Main Motion: Move to go into committee of the whole.  

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Watson  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-2 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Springer   Williams   

Opposed:  Forbes   Albertson   

 
 

Main Motion: Move to come out of committee of the whole.   

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Albertson   

Opposed:  

21



10 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 12, 2018 

 
Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 18-12 

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: Council Adjourned with action left on the table  

 
 

Primary 

Amendment: Amend 10-73-622, Cash Transfer to Transit Bus to strike $155.315 and insert zero.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Albertson   Watson   

Opposed: 0 

 
Secondary 

Amendment: Amend to strike Zero and insert $80,580 

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-2 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Springer   Williams   

Opposed:  Albertson   Forbes   

 
 

Primary 
Amendment: General fund Revenue line 408 to strike $100,000 and insert $200,000.  

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-2 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   

Opposed:  Watson  Williams   

 
Primary 

Amendment: General Fund Revenue Line 422 to strike $290,000 and insert $500,000.  

Moved by: Albertson 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 2-4  

In favor:  Forbes   Albertson   

Opposed:  Williams   Watson   Robb   Springer   

 
Main Motion: Motion to extend the meeting past 11:00 p.m. to 11:10 p.m. 

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Watson 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 

22



11 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 12, 2018 

Primary 
Amendment: 51-81-722 to insert $15,000.  

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Watson  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Albertson   

Opposed: 0 

 
 

Primary 
Amendment: 51-85-721 to insert $45,000 and 51-85-722 to insert $10,000.   

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Watson  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 5-1 

In favor:  Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  Robb   

 
 

XV. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Main Motion: Adjourn. 

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Springer 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  0 

 
 
Council adjourned at 11:07 p.m. 
 
 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk   

23



1 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 14, 2018, 2018 

Special Meeting 
June 14, 2018 

 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER   

 
A Special Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on June 14, 2018 at 6:30 p.m., in 
the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 
 
Mayor Richard Robb called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ROLL CALL 

 

 
IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD   

 
 

V. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 

 
Main Motion: Approve the Agenda.  

Moved by: Forbes 
Seconded by: Albertson  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  0 

 
 

VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

          City Council Meeting  
       City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

Mayor Rick Robb Council Member Thor Williams 

Vice-Mayor Fred Watson Council Member Mitchell Forbes   

Council Member Leif Albertson Council Member Brian Henry 

Council Member Mark Springer (Telephonic)   

 Also in attendance were the following: 

City Manager Pete Williams City Clerk Lori Strickler 

24



2 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 14, 2018, 2018 

Item A – Public Hearing of Ordinance 18-12: Establishing A City Of Bethel Budget For 
Fiscal Year 2019 Beginning July 1, 2018. 

Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
No one present to be heard. 

Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing. 
 

Main Motion: 

Motion to Adopt was made on June 12, 2018. Council Adjourned with action left on 

the table.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  0 

 
Primary 

Amendment: Amend 10-72-760 to strike $15,000 and insert $30,000 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 0-7  

In favor: 0 

Opposed:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

 
Secondary Motion: Amend to strike $30,000 and insert 18,000.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-1 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  Williams   

 
Primary 

Amendment: 
Adopt the changes to Administrations Budget done throughout the budget meeting 
session.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  0 

 

Primary 
Amendment: 

Amend 51-82-777, Project Expenses to insert $210,000 amend line item 51-86-777, 

Project Expenses to insert $210,000 and amend 51-80-777, Project Expenses to 
insert under Capital Expenditures $150,000.  

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  0 

 

25



3 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 14, 2018, 2018 

Secondary 
Amendment: Amend to strike 51-80-777 to strike $150,000 and insert $370,000.  

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  0 

 
Primary 

Amendment: 57-50-649, Professional Services to increase by $300,000 

Moved by: Williams 
Seconded by: Watson 

Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 3-4  

In favor:  Watson   Springer   Williams   

Opposed:  Robb  Albertson   Forbes   Henry 

 
Primary 

Amendment: 

 

53-44-489 Leased Properties, Land Near Sammy’s Market to insert $15,000. 

Moved by: Williams  
Seconded by: Watson 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-1 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  Henry 

 
Secondary 

Amendment: Amend to strike $15,000 and insert $10,000.  

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Forbes 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-1 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Springer   Williams   Forbes   

Opposed:  Henry 

 
Council Member Springer departed the meeting at 8:40 p.m. 
 

Primary 
Amendment: 

Amend to allocate overhead for Property Maintenance in the amount of 5% for the 

pool, 10% to the water and sewer enterprise fund, and 15% for the courthouse of 
the overall expenses associated to property maintenance.  

Moved by: Forbes 

Seconded by: Williams 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  0 

 
Secondary 

Amendment: Amend to include the costs for the Municipal Dock Fund in the amount of 5%.  

Moved by: Williams 
Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of  3-3 

26



4 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 14, 2018, 2018 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Williams   

Opposed:  Albertson   Forbes   Henry 

 
Secondary 

Amendment: 

Amend to strike 15% for the courthouse and insert 3% for the municipal dock and 

12% for the courthouse. 

Moved by: Forbes 
Seconded by: Watson 

Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 0-6  

In favor: 0 

Opposed:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

 
Secondary 

Amendment: Amend to allocate 3% to solid waste.  

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Watson 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 4-2 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Williams   Henry 

Opposed:  Albertson   Forbes   

 
 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Main Motion: Adjournment.  

Moved by: Forbes 
Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Watson   Albertson   Williams   Forbes   Henry 

Opposed:  0 

 
 
Council adjourned at 8:53 p.m. 
 
 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk   

27



 

Reports of Standing Committees  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

28



 

 

Public Safety & Transportation Commission 1 City of Bethel, Alaska 

  June 6, 2018 

City of Bethel, Alaska  

Public Safety & Transportation Commission 
June 6, 2018 Regular Meeting Bethel, Alaska 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

 

A regular meeting of the Public Safety and Transportation Commission was held on June 6th, 

2018 in the Bethel City Hall Council Chambers. 

  

This meeting was called to order at 6:41pm. 

 

II. ROLL CALL 

 

Present:  Joan Dewey 

   Brian Henry Council Representative 

    

Absent:  Eileen Henrikson Chair 

Jared Karr Vice Chair 

   Mary Weiss 

   Julene Webber  

   Monroe Tyler 

   Mary Nanuwak Alternate 

   Jesslyn McGowan Recorder 

 

Ex-Officio Present: Burke Waldron Police Chief 

   William Howell III Fire Chief 

  

Others Present: Cindy Sharp  

   Judy Wasierski  

   Lori Strickler City Clerk 

 

 

A quorum was not established of the Commission. 

 

III. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Meeting adjourned at 6:42 pm. 

 

 

APPROVED THIS _______  DAY OF_______________________, 2018.    

    

 

    

_________________________    ________________________ 

Jesslyn McGowan, Recorder     Eileen Henrikson, Chair 

29



 

Special Order of Business 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

30



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 1 of 15 

 

Schedule, Events and Programs  

 Sport Club for youth ages 5-13 runs through the summer  

 Free Women’s Self Defense Workshop, Saturday, June 23rd, 3:30-7:30pm  

 July 4th Facility Open 2-9pm  

 Free Women’s Self Defense Workshop, Sunday, July 8th, pm  

 Summer 2 Classes begin July 9th  

 Staff Event 7/27/18 facility open 5:30am-5pm 

 

Staffing 

Operational Staff:   

 We are currently looking for 1-2 Facility Attendants, particularly female attendants. 

 

Programming Staff: We are looking for programming staff to fill the below roles: 

 Swim Instructors – we are developing a schedule for our next Water Safety Instructor Class. Anyone 

interested in learning to become a swimming instructor should contact Stacey at Stacey.rearodn@hfit.com  

 Masters Swim Coach: Swim coach is not required to be American Red Cross Certified, but must have 

experience with coaching competitive swimming. 

 Fitness Instructors and Certified Personal Trainers 

 Instructors for any activity, craft or music patrons might be interested in learning.  

 

Anyone interested in working at the YK Fitness Center can call 543-0390 or visit ykfitness.org for information. 

 

 

Facility Maintenance 

 

31

mailto:Stacey.rearodn@hfit.com


YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 2 of 15 

*Note: Facility opened in November of 2014 (FY15) 

Routine Maintenance:  Essential routine maintenance was completed.    

 

Corrective Maintenance:  Necessary Corrective Maintenance was completed. 

 

Maintenance needed: 

 

Previously reported maintenance still pending: 

 Main drain at bottom of pool – looking at replacement drain covers and processes for installation.  

 Lamps for UV system are nearing the end of their use life and will need to be replaced.  Due to the delicate and 

highly technical nature of the work it may be necessary to bring in a contractor.  We are looking at options.   

 Overhead fans in pool area need maintenance. Working with City Facilities Department to develop a plan for safe 

access to trouble shoot the fans.  Jan 2018: City of Bethel is looking into purchasing a lift that will allow access to 

the fans as well as other maintenance areas in the pool. Update 3/18/18 a scissor lift has been identified and 

purchasing is being reviewed. 5/15/18 scissor lift scheduled to arrive on first barge.  6/19/18 still waiting on lift. 

 While moving cardio machines we found that the treadmills are wearing groves into the linoleum in some places 

and causing the linoleum to bubble in others.  Need to look into alternative flooring options for under these 

pieces.  Jan 2018: no further damage has been found, but we continue to monitor and review flooring 

replacement options.  

 Experiencing difficulties with BIAMP Interface modules for playing music in the cardio/weight room and studio.  

We are reviewing system to determine whether they can be fixed or will need to be replaced.   

32



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 3 of 15 

Revenue 

FY18 Revenue 

 
 July Membership Revenue includes payment for LKSD FY18 Contract. 

 

Revenue Comparisons FY17-FY18 

 

Revenue for December 2016 (FY17) included the Annual membership payments for the YKHC contract.  The 

FY18 contract has been renewed, partial funds were received in February and additional owed funds were 

received in April.  

 

 

  

Code Facility Revenue Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Total FY18 Budgeted%attained

420 Memberships $94,430 $9,948 $17,239 $29,334 $17,032 $9,462 $8,715 $30,791 $8,664 $48,569 $18,216 $292,401 $372,000 78.60% $79,599

430 Pro Shop $3,283 $3,246 $3,426 $5,195 $3,231 $3,172 $2,643 $4,315 $4,537 $2,289 $3,467 $38,804 $39,675 97.80% $871

435 Concessions $4,078 $4,685 $5,635 $7,286 $5,834 $5,643 $5,367 $5,321 $6,691 $5,922 $6,782 $63,244 $49,200 128.54%

460 Entry Fees $6,162 $7,629 $5,955 $6,151 $14,683 $5,749 $9,736 $5,925 $8,155 $7,667 $7,077 $84,890 $78,480 108.17%

463 Facility Rental $661 $801 $542 $1,434 $987 $1,189 $1,258 $1,100 $834 $1,062 $672 $10,541 $12,750 82.68%

465 Program Fees $2,741 $3,046 $7,053 $5,730 $5,352 $1,469 $6,194 $2,801 $5,927 $2,009 $4,008 $46,330 $90,500 51.19%

Community Action Grant $1,300 $1,300 $0

WomenInPhilanthropy Grant $0 $0

Facility Revenue Total $111,356 $29,355 $39,850 $55,131 $47,120 $26,685 $33,914 $50,253 $34,808 $67,517 $41,521 $537,510 $642,605 83.65%

Monthly Revenue Totals July August September October November December January February March April May June Total

FY17 $31,433 $26,142 $24,867 $43,503 $27,134 $57,131 $26,567 $37,829 $38,636 $25,144 $28,177 $33,913 $400,478

FY18 $111,356 $29,355 $39,850 $55,131 $47,120 $26,685 $33,914 $50,253 $34,808 $69,017 $41,521 $539,010

Change $79,923 $3,213 $14,983 $11,628 $19,986 ($30,446) $7,346 $12,424 ($3,828) $43,873 $13,344 ($33,913) $138,533

33



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 4 of 15 

Revenue 

Concessions Comprisons FY17 and FY18 

 
 

 
 

Pro Shop Comprisons FY17 and FY18 

 

 
  

Concessions 

Sales Totals
July August September October November December January February March April May June Total

FY17 $2,384.89 $3,157.11 $3,092.41 $3,769.41 $3,426.47 $3,185.55 $3,648.41 $4,247.30 $4,669.61 $4,009.62 $3,958.30 $4,024.27 $43,573.35

FY18 $3,954.28 $4,650.93 $5,633.56 $7,320.72 $5,834.03 $5,642.99 $5,366.89 $5,321.23 $6,690.87 $5,921.68 $6,781.51 $63,118.69

Value Change $1,569.39 $1,493.82 $2,541.15 $3,551.31 $2,407.56 $2,457.44 $1,718.48 $1,073.93 $2,021.26 $1,912.06 $2,823.21 $19,545.34

Pro Shop 

Sales Totals
July August September October November December January February March April May June Total

FY17 $3,913.00 $2,850.50 $2,092.54 $3,365.62 $2,231.18 $2,490.62 $2,239.62 $2,777.95 $4,032.94 $3,483.89 $3,253.72 $3,382.17 $36,113.75

FY18 $3,289.74 $3,247.54 $3,365.77 $5,194.60 $3,231.28 $3,172.30 $2,643.08 $4,315.11 $4,537.02 $2,288.89 $3,466.59 $38,751.92

Value Change -$623.26 $397.04 $1,273.23 $1,828.98 $1,000.10 $681.68 $403.46 $1,537.16 $504.08 -$1,195.00 $212.87 $2,638.17

34



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 5 of 15 

FY18 Expenses 

 
*Wages are paid every 2 weeks.  Most months include 2 pay periods, September 2017 and March 2018 included 3 

pay periods.   

**During September the facility schedule shifted to a 7 day per week schedule adding an additional operational day 

per week of wages. 

  

Comparison of Monthly Expenses 

 Primary influencer on the 

increase in expenses starting in 

September is the additional 

wages paid out to staff at the 

move to a 7 day per week 

schedule.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

Expenses Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Total Budgeted % used remaining

Salary Wages $10,000 $10,110 $20,989 $13,382 $11,062 $14,108 $14,108 $14,108 $21,162 $14,108 $14,108 $157,243 $233,050 67.47% $75,807

Hourly Wages $17,300 $18,171 $29,147 $20,984 $23,778 $23,239 $22,871 $21,890 $29,290 $19,416 $19,080 $245,167 $331,500 73.96% $86,333

Benefits $5,527 $5,957 $11,198 $8,187 $8,677 $9,286 $9,312 $8,975 $12,269 $7,777 $7,860 $95,026 $117,310 81.00% $22,284

520 Housing $3,000 $3,000 $3,090 $3,090 $3,090 $3,090 $3,090 $3,090 $3,090 $3,090 $3,090 $33,810 $37,080 91.18% $3,270

545 Travel/Training $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,304 $280 $0 $0 $1,584 $5,731 27.64% $4,147

561 Supplies $2,520 $6,925 $10,929 $4,807 $9,966 $2,458 $6,302 $5,472 $3,720 $5,063 $3,353 $61,516 $95,696 64.28% $34,180

580 Boiler $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $187 $0 $202 $382 $232 $0 $1,003 $5,250 19.10% $4,247

646 Contractors $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $11,667 $128,337 $144,200 89.00% $15,863

661 Vehicle Maintenance/Repair $0 $0 $0 $38 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $38 $750 5.06% $712

663 Janitorial Supplies/Services $219 $49 $134 $3,020 $574 $191 $125 $1,582 $1,949 $4,618 $1,822 $14,283 $20,400 70.02% $6,117

668 Software Licenses $682 $308 $423 $581 $491 $245 $371 $406 $378 $692 $421 $4,999 $6,869 72.77% $1,870

683 Minor Equipment $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $10,500 0.00% $10,500

684 Donations and Awards $90 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $90 $500 18.00% $410

721 Insurance $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $15,515 0.00% $15,515

724 Dues/Subscriptions $169 $169 $169 $169 $169 $169 $169 $169 $169 $169 $169 $1,863 $1,965 94.77% $103

727 Advertising $203 $168 $0 $0 $236 $269 $284 $0 $0 $68 $0 $1,230 $10,000 12.30% $8,770

733 Postage $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $500 0.00% $500

736 Bank Charges $627 $699 $990 $1,640 $1,038 $686 $1,020 $1,181 $1,007 $844 $883 $10,615 $14,060 75.50% $3,445

790 Allowance for Special Events $0 $0 $0 $294 $0 $0 $0 $0 $26 $0 $280 $601 $800 75.08% $199

799 Miscellaneous $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,058 0.00% $5,058

Community Action Grant $73 $230 $303 $1,300 23.31%

Women In Philanthropy Grant $1,111 $1,111 $7,541 14.73%

TOTAL $52,006 $57,223 $88,735 $67,861 $70,749 $65,596 $69,321 $70,047 $85,390 $67,818 $64,074 $758,818 $1,065,576 71.21% $306,757

Monthly Expenses July August September October November December January February March April May

FY17 $39,145 $70,114 $75,717 $58,716 $62,335 $61,668 $54,949 $72,965 $77,475 $70,907 $56,290

FY18 $53,231 $58,448 $89,960 $69,086 $71,974 $65,596 $70,546 $71,272 $85,390 $67,745 $64,074

Change $14,086 ($11,666) $14,242 $10,369 $9,638 $3,927 $15,597 ($1,694) $7,915 ($3,162) $7,784

$0
$10,000
$20,000
$30,000
$40,000
$50,000
$60,000
$70,000
$80,000
$90,000

$100,000

Comparison of Monthly Expenses

FY17 FY18

35



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 6 of 15 

Facility Utilization 

Facility Check-In: Facility Check-In numbers represent the total number of patrons who visited the facility and are 

based on a compilation of the number of members who checked-in, the number of daily passes sold and the number 

of participants in programs, activities, rentals and special events.  These numbers represent facility visits, not 

individuals as most individuals visit the facility multiple times over the course of the month.  

 

Facility Utilization was lower than expected during March.  We assume that the bulk of this is due to the warm 

weather making travel difficult and to the large number of individuals impacted by the flu and other illnesses. 

 

 

 

 

Area Usage: Count of the number of individuals in each area at the top and bottom of each hour.  Showing trends 

and patterns of area usage, these numbers are not an accurate reporting of the overall number of patrons using the 

facility as patrons who remain in any area for more than 30 minutes are counted more than once. The below charts 

show average number of users for each area, by day of the week, per 30 minute period and are used from 

programming and operational hours planning.    

Facility Check-In Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Total

Member Checkins 1,983 2,347 2,737 2983 2,917 2,639 3,103 2,653 2,671 3,139 2,873 30,045

Daily Admissions 1,258 1,432 1,706 1790 925 1,388 1,607 1,714 1,485 1,443 1,506 16,254

Rentals 25 62 105 50 119 215 95 120 150 140 45 1,126

Fitness Programming 48 68 249 220 285 152 199 210 166 235 117 1,949

Aquatics Programming 20 30 98 96 105 55 125 167 101 140 127 1,064

Youth Programs 14 34 41 0 0 4 10 0 21 0 27 151

Monthly Totals 3,334 3,939 4,895 5,139 4,351 4,449 5,129 4,864 4,573 5,097 4,668 50,589

36



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 7 of 15 

Combined Facility Totals 

 

  

37



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 8 of 15 

 

 

  

38



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 9 of 15 

 

  

39



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 10 of 15 

  

40



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 11 of 15 

 

  

41



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 12 of 15 

 

  

42



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 13 of 15 

May 2018 Monthly Facility Averages by day of the week 

 

 

 

 

Total: Mon. Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Total: Saturdays Sundays 

5:30am 3.25 2 2.6 4 3 5:30am

6:00am 7 8.2 6.6 4 10.75 6:00am

6:30am 5.75 11.2 8.4 6.8 8.5 6:30am

7:00am 2.75 6 8 3.8 8.25 7:00am

7:30am 1.25 2.6 5.4 2 3 7:30am

8:00am 1.25 2.4 3.6 2.8 3.25 8:00am

8:30am 2.25 3 3 3.4 4.75 8:30am

9:00am 3 5.2 3 3 3.75 9:00am

9:30am 3.25 7.6 5.4 5.6 4 9:30am

10:00am 6.25 8.4 3.6 9.2 3.5 10:00am 6.5 2.75

10:30am 16 22.4 8.2 9.4 4.5 10:30am 10.25 11.25

11:00am 15.5 17.8 8 7.6 4.25 11:00am 11.25 9

11:30am 3.25 15.6 6 3.2 6.25 11:30am 9.75 10.75

12:00pm 2.5 8.2 3.8 4.8 6.5 12:00pm 15 12

12:30pm 4.5 7.4 4 4.4 5.25 12:30pm 17.75 10

1:00pm 1.25 12 7.6 3.2 5.5 1:00pm 33.5 7.75

1:30pm 10 10.4 6.4 14.4 6.75 1:30pm 26.75 16.5

2:00pm 11.75 11.4 6.4 18.6 5.25 2:00pm 31.25 26.5

2:30pm 12 4.6 2.6 18 5 2:30pm 24.5 23.5

3:00pm 17.5 5.4 3.4 16.6 5.75 3:00pm 24.5 34

3:30pm 6.75 1.8 5.2 8.6 7.25 3:30pm 25 31.25

4:00pm 7 4 4.2 7.6 7 4:00pm 17.75 30.25

4:30pm 8.25 7 5.6 14 6.5 4:30pm 24.75 29.5

5:00pm 9.5 18 8.8 18.4 8 5:00pm 26.5 30.75

5:30pm 15.75 21.2 19 20 13.5 5:30pm 26 30.5

6:00pm 22.5 31.2 26.2 26.2 16.5 6:00pm 30.25 29.5

6:30pm 28 35.6 34 27.6 42.25 6:30pm 22 27.25

7:00pm 32.25 33.4 32.8 33.4 39.25 7:00pm 29.75 24.75

7:30pm 28.25 28 32.2 28.4 45.5 7:30pm 29 22.25

8:00pm 21 27.2 29 19 36.75 8:00pm 15.5 13.75

8:30pm 14.75 5.8 12.4 7.2 8.5 8:30pm 2.25 3

43



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 14 of 15 

May 2018 Monthly Area Averages 

 

  

Pool Mon. Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Pool Saturdays Sundays Spa Mon. Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Spa Saturdays Sundays 

5:30am 0.75 0.6 0.6 0.6 1 5:30am 5:30am 0 0 0 0 0 5:30am

6:00am 0.75 1.2 0.8 1 1 6:00am 6:00am 0 0 0 0 0 6:00am

6:30am 1.25 1 1.2 1.2 0.5 6:30am 6:30am 0.25 0.4 0.2 0 0.75 6:30am

7:00am 1 1 2.6 1.4 1.5 7:00am 7:00am 0 0.6 1.4 0.6 0.25 7:00am

7:30am 0.5 0.6 2.8 1.4 1.5 7:30am 7:30am 0.25 0.4 0.6 0 0.75 7:30am

8:00am 0 1 0.6 1.2 1.25 8:00am 8:00am 0.25 0.2 0.4 0.2 0.25 8:00am

8:30am 1 1.4 0.8 0.8 0.75 8:30am 8:30am 0.25 0.4 0.8 0.4 0.25 8:30am

9:00am 0.25 1.2 0.4 0.8 1 9:00am 9:00am 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.25 9:00am

9:30am 0.25 2.6 2.2 2.6 1 9:30am 9:30am 0.25 0.4 0.2 0.6 0 9:30am

10:00am 3 1.8 2 3.2 1 10:00am 1 0.5 10:00am 0.25 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.25 10:00am 0.75 0

10:30am 11.75 15.2 5.8 2.2 2.5 10:30am 2.25 3.75 10:30am 0 0 0.2 0.2 0 10:30am 0.5 0.5

11:00am 12 14.2 5.4 3 2.25 11:00am 4 2.75 11:00am 0.25 0.6 1.2 0.4 0.25 11:00am 0.25 0.75

11:30am 0 9.8 4 2.6 3 11:30am 3.75 2.75 11:30am 0.25 2.2 0.2 0 0.5 11:30am 0.5 1.5

12:00pm 0.75 5 1.6 1.6 3.25 12:00pm 4.25 5.75 12:00pm 0 0.4 0.2 0.8 0.75 12:00pm 0.5 0.75

12:30pm 1.5 2 2.2 1 2 12:30pm 5 3.25 12:30pm 0.25 1.6 0 0.2 0.25 12:30pm 0.25 0.75

1:00pm 0.5 8.4 5.4 1.2 2.75 1:00pm 23.5 3 1:00pm 0 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 1:00pm 2 0

1:30pm 10 7 5 12.6 3 1:30pm 16.75 7.75 1:30pm 0 0 0.6 0.4 1.75 1:30pm 1.25 1.25

2:00pm 11 8.6 2.6 15.2 2.25 2:00pm 21.5 15.25 2:00pm 0.25 0.2 2 0.6 0.25 2:00pm 0.75 1.5

2:30pm 11.5 2 0.8 16 2.5 2:30pm 15.5 14.5 2:30pm 0 0.4 0.2 0.4 0.5 2:30pm 1.25 1

3:00pm 13 2.4 1.6 13.2 1.25 3:00pm 13 22.25 3:00pm 0.5 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.25 3:00pm 2.75 1.5

3:30pm 3 0.6 2.4 6 2.25 3:30pm 15.5 18.75 3:30pm 1 0.2 0.2 0.2 1 3:30pm 2.75 2

4:00pm 3.25 0.6 2.6 4.8 2.5 4:00pm 10.5 18.75 4:00pm 0.25 0 0.2 0.2 1 4:00pm 1.5 0.75

4:30pm 3.5 3.4 3.4 7.6 3 4:30pm 19 17.75 4:30pm 0.25 0.2 0.6 2 0 4:30pm 1 1.75

5:00pm 4.75 10.2 4.6 11.8 3.75 5:00pm 19.75 18.25 5:00pm 0.75 1.4 0.4 1.2 1.5 5:00pm 2.5 2

5:30pm 7 14.2 10.2 11.8 6.75 5:30pm 21 18.5 5:30pm 0.75 1 1.4 0.6 2.75 5:30pm 2.25 1.5

6:00pm 9.5 16.4 14.6 14 6.25 6:00pm 23.25 18.5 6:00pm 2 0.8 2 1.4 1.75 6:00pm 2.25 3

6:30pm 14.25 18.2 18.2 15.2 29.5 6:30pm 15.5 16.5 6:30pm 1.25 2.4 2.4 1 1.75 6:30pm 1.5 2.5

7:00pm 16.75 16.8 17.6 18.8 23 7:00pm 20 14.75 7:00pm 1.25 1.6 3.4 2.4 4 7:00pm 3.75 2

7:30pm 15 15.4 17 15.2 28.5 7:30pm 19.75 12 7:30pm 2.5 2.2 1.4 2 2.25 7:30pm 2.25 3.25

8:00pm 7.75 15.2 12 10.4 21.25 8:00pm 7.5 7.5 8:00pm 1.5 1.6 2 2.4 3.25 8:00pm 3.75 2.5

8:30pm 4.5 0 3.4 3.2 1.75 8:30pm 0 1.25 8:30pm 1.5 0 1 1 0 8:30pm 0.25 0

44



YKFC Monthly Report May 2018 06/19/2018 

  
 

Page 15 of 15 

May 2018 Monthly Area Averages 

 

 

Fitness Mon. Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Fitness Saturdays Sundays Studio Mon. Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Studio Saturdays Sundays Bikes Mon. Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Bikes Saturdays Sundays 

5:30am 2.25 1.4 2 3.4 2 5:30am 5:30am 0 0 0 0 0 5:30am 5:30am 0.25 0 0 0 0 5:30am

6:00am 5.75 6.4 5.8 2.6 6.75 6:00am 6:00am 0.25 0.6 0 0.4 2.75 6:00am 6:00am 0.25 0 0 0 0.25 6:00am

6:30am 4 7.2 6.2 4.2 4 6:30am 6:30am 0.25 2.4 0.2 1 3 6:30am 6:30am 0.25 0.2 0.6 0.4 0.25 6:30am

7:00am 1.75 2.6 3.6 1.4 3.75 7:00am 7:00am 0 1.4 0 0.4 2.25 7:00am 7:00am 0 0.4 0.4 0 0.5 7:00am

7:30am 0.5 1.6 2 0.6 0.75 7:30am 7:30am 0 0 0 0 0 7:30am 7:30am 0 0 0 0 0 7:30am

8:00am 0.75 1.2 2.4 1.2 1.5 8:00am 8:00am 0.25 0 0.2 0 0.25 8:00am 8:00am 0 0 0 0.2 0 8:00am

8:30am 0.75 1.2 1.2 2.2 3.5 8:30am 8:30am 0.25 0 0.2 0 0.25 8:30am 8:30am 0 0 0 0 0 8:30am

9:00am 2.25 3.6 2 1.8 2.5 9:00am 9:00am 0 0 0.2 0 0 9:00am 9:00am 0 0 0 0 0 9:00am

9:30am 2.75 4.6 3 2.4 3 9:30am 9:30am 0 0 0 0 0 9:30am 9:30am 0 0 0 0 0 9:30am

10:00am 3 6.4 1.4 5.6 2.25 10:00am 4.25 1.25 10:00am 0 0 0 0 0 10:00am 0.5 1 10:00am 0 0 0 0.2 0 10:00am 0 0

10:30am 4.25 7.2 2.2 6.8 1.75 10:30am 6 3.5 10:30am 0 0 0 0.2 0.25 10:30am 1.5 3.25 10:30am 0 0 0 0 0 10:30am 0 0.25

11:00am 3 2.8 1.4 4.2 1.75 11:00am 6.25 4.25 11:00am 0.25 0.2 0 0 0 11:00am 0.75 1 11:00am 0 0 0 0 0 11:00am 0 0.25

11:30am 3 3.4 1.6 0.4 2.25 11:30am 4.5 5.25 11:30am 0 0 0.2 0.2 0.5 11:30am 1 1.25 11:30am 0 0.2 0 0 0 11:30am 0 0

12:00pm 1.25 2.2 1.4 2.4 2 12:00pm 4.75 4.25 12:00pm 0.5 0.6 0.6 0 0.5 12:00pm 4 0.75 12:00pm 0 0 0 0 0 12:00pm 1.5 0.5

12:30pm 2.75 3.4 1.6 3 2.5 12:30pm 4.5 5 12:30pm 0 0.4 0.2 0 0.5 12:30pm 5.75 1 12:30pm 0 0 0 0.2 0 12:30pm 2.25 0

1:00pm 0.75 2.4 1.8 1.6 1.5 1:00pm 4.5 2 1:00pm 0 0.6 0 0 0.75 1:00pm 3.5 0.75 1:00pm 0.25 0.2 0 0 0 1:00pm 0 2

1:30pm 0 2.4 0.8 1.4 1.75 1:30pm 4.75 5.25 1:30pm 0 0.6 0 0 0.25 1:30pm 4 1 1:30pm 0.25 0.4 0 0 0 1:30pm 0 1.25

2:00pm 0.5 1.8 1.6 1 2.75 2:00pm 5.5 4 2:00pm 0 0.4 0.2 1.8 0 2:00pm 3.25 4 2:00pm 0.25 0.4 0 0 0 2:00pm 0.25 1.75

2:30pm 0.5 1.6 1.6 1.6 2 2:30pm 5.25 2 2:30pm 0 0.4 0 0 0 2:30pm 2.25 5.25 2:30pm 0.25 0.2 0 0 0 2:30pm 0.25 0.75

3:00pm 3.75 2 1.4 2.4 3.5 3:00pm 4.25 2.75 3:00pm 0.25 0.4 0 0.4 0.75 3:00pm 4.25 7 3:00pm 0.5 0.4 0 0 0 3:00pm 0.25 0.5

3:30pm 2.5 1 2.2 2 3.25 3:30pm 3.25 6.75 3:30pm 0.25 0 0.4 0.4 0.5 3:30pm 3.25 3.5 3:30pm 0 0 0 0 0.25 3:30pm 0.25 0.25

4:00pm 3.5 2.6 1.4 2.4 2.5 4:00pm 3.5 7 4:00pm 0 0.8 0 0.2 1 4:00pm 1.75 3.5 4:00pm 0 0 0 0 0 4:00pm 0.5 0.25

4:30pm 3.5 2 1.6 3.6 2.25 4:30pm 3 5.75 4:30pm 0.5 1.4 0 0.6 1 4:30pm 1.5 4 4:30pm 0.5 0 0 0.2 0.25 4:30pm 0.25 0.25

5:00pm 3 4 3.6 4.4 1.75 5:00pm 3 6.25 5:00pm 1 2.4 0.2 1 1 5:00pm 1.25 3.75 5:00pm 0 0 0 0 0 5:00pm 0 0.5

5:30pm 7.25 3.6 6.6 5.6 3.25 5:30pm 2 3.25 5:30pm 0.5 2 0.8 1.8 0.75 5:30pm 0.25 6.75 5:30pm 0.25 0.4 0 0.2 0 5:30pm 0.5 0.5

6:00pm 9.25 8.4 8 8.8 6.5 6:00pm 4.5 4.75 6:00pm 1.25 4.4 1.2 1 2 6:00pm 0 3 6:00pm 0.5 1.2 0.4 1 0 6:00pm 0.25 0.25

6:30pm 10 9 8.6 9.6 7.25 6:30pm 5 5.25 6:30pm 2 5 3.2 1.2 3.5 6:30pm 0 3 6:30pm 0.5 1 1.6 0.6 0.25 6:30pm 0 0

7:00pm 11 11 8.4 8.6 7.25 7:00pm 3.75 5.25 7:00pm 2.5 3.2 2 2.8 4.25 7:00pm 1.75 2.75 7:00pm 1 0.8 1.4 0.8 0.75 7:00pm 0.5 0

7:30pm 8.75 7.8 10.8 8.4 7.75 7:30pm 6 4.25 7:30pm 2 2 1.4 2 6.5 7:30pm 0.75 2.5 7:30pm 0 0.6 1.6 0.8 0.5 7:30pm 0.25 0.25

8:00pm 9.25 6.6 11.4 4.2 9 8:00pm 3.5 3.25 8:00pm 1.75 3.4 2.8 1.4 3 8:00pm 0.75 0.5 8:00pm 0.75 0.4 0.8 0.6 0.25 8:00pm 0 0

8:30pm 8 4.4 6.2 1.8 3.75 8:30pm 2 1.5 8:30pm 0.25 1.4 1.2 0.6 3 8:30pm 0 0 8:30pm 0.5 0 0.6 0.6 0 8:30pm 0 0.25

45



 

Unfinished Business  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

46



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 1 of 17 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance # 18-13 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING BETHEL MUNICIPAL CODE 5.08, ALCOHOLIC 
BEVERAGES TO REQUIRE LICENSED AND BONDED SECURITY GUARDS AT ALL 

ESTABLISHMENTS SELLING ALCOHOL OTHER THAN BEER AND WINE 
 
WHEREAS,  State law provides the City authority to regulate alcohol sales within the 

City’s jurisdiction;  
 
WHEREAS,  going into the third year of alcohol sales, the City of Bethel has seen the 

impact which the sale of hard alcohol has had on our police, fire, EMT’s and 
all associated first responders;  

 
WHEREAS,  between 2015 (when sales were not legal) and 2017 (when sales were legal) 

the Police Department’s total calls for service increased by 19% between 
2015 and 2017;  

 
WHEREAS,  during that same timeframe, the Fire Department’s Emergency Medical 

Services total calls for service in the community increased by 38%; 
 
WHEREAS,  public safety and public health concerns such as motor vehicle injuries and 

deaths, violence-related and other injuries, and bootlegging, coupled with 
undesirable community conditions, and an increased burden on a number of 
social services and agencies around the region have made it difficult for the 
City Council to ignore the significant impacts alcohol has had;  

 
WHEREAS,  the Bethel City Council has noted that most of the increased calls for service 

center in or around the package stores selling the alcohol;  
 

WHEREAS,   such companies should not be allowed to simply profit from the sales without 
demonstrating a heightened level of responsibility for preventing many of 
the issues and calls for service which their business generates;  

 
WHEREAS,   by requiring businesses that sell hard alcohol to monitor their own premises, 

many of the issues that occur in their parking lots and inside their premises 
can be dealt with early and before they get to the level of requiring police 
and/or EMT services;  

47



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 2 of 17 

Chapter 5.08 

ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES 

Sections: 
5.08.010    Definitions. 
5.08.020    Procedure for administrative review of license applications. 
5.08.030    City council review of license. 
5.08.040    Council action on liquor license applications. 
5.08.050    Recordkeeping required of all sellers. 
5.08.060    Conditional use permit required. 
5.08.070    Licensee responsible for employees’ actions on premises. 
5.08.080    Hours and days of operation. 
5.08.090    Obligation to enforce restrictions within licensed premises. 
5.08.100    Alcohol server training course requirement. 
5.08.110    Operation of licensed premises. 
5.08.120    Restrictions on purchase and sale of alcoholic beverages. 
5.08.130    Sale to intoxicated persons. 
5.08.140    Eviction of patrons. 
5.08.150    Open container. 
5.08.160    Transportation of alcohol. 
5.08.170    Inspection of premises. 
5.08.180    Access for enforcement. 
5.08.190    Alcohol offenses. 
5.08.200    Penalties. 

5.08.010 Definitions. 
A. “Alcoholic beverages” means all spirituous, vinous, malt or other fermented or 
distilled beverages whatever the origin, that are intended for human consumption as a 
beverage and that contain one-half of one (1) percent or more of alcohol by volume, 
whether produced commercially or privately. 

B. “Board” means the Alcoholic Beverage Control Board established under AS 
04.06.010. 

C. “Intoxicated person” means a person whose physical or mental conduct is 
substantially impaired as a result of the introduction of an alcoholic beverage into the 
person’s body and who exhibits those plain and easily observed or discovered outward 
manifestations of behavior commonly known to be produced by the overconsumption of 
alcoholic beverages. 

D. “Licensed premises” means any or all designated portions of a building or structure, 
rooms or enclosures in the building or structure, or real estate leased, used, controlled, 

48



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 3 of 17 

or operated by a licensee in the conduct of business for which the licensee is licensed 
by the ABC Board and the city at the specific address for which the license is issued. 

E. “Liquor license” means any of the licenses or permits described in AS 04.11.080 

F. “Open containers” means any original container or package without the Internal 
Revenue Service strip stamp intact upon such container or package; any container or 
package that has been opened at least once since purchase or manufacture; or any 
container or package containing an alcoholic beverage other than the original container 
or package. 

G. “Person” means an individual, partnership, cooperative, association, joint venture, 
corporation, estate trust, business, receiver, or any entity, group or combination acting 
as a unit.  

H.  “Security Guard” means an individual licensed and bonded pursuant to AS 
18.65.400-.490. 

5.08.020  Procedure for administrative review of license applications. 
A. Upon receipt of notice from the Board of an application for the issuance, renewal, 
transfer of location or transfer to another person of a liquor license for a license location 
in the city, the clerk shall as soon as practicable distribute copies of the notice to the 
city manager, the city council and the city attorney. 

B. The city manager shall immediately refer the application for review as follows: 

1. To the planning director or their designee to determine if the applicant has 
complied with the conditional use provision of the Bethel Municipal Code; 

2. To the finance director or their designee to determine whether the licensee or 
license transferee is delinquent in paying to the city any tax, assessment, business 
license fee, or fee or charge for utility service for the business and/or affiliate (as 
defined in 3 AAC 304.990) that operates or will operate, under the liquor license. 

3. To the police and fire chiefs to determine whether, in their opinion, there have 
been excessive calls for service, excessive numbers of convictions or arrests for 
unlawful activity at the license location, police or ambulance reports, reports of 
unlawful activity at the license location, or police, fire or ambulance dispatches to 
the license location. 

C. The fire chief, police chief, planning director and finance director shall forward 
written statements to the city manager within fourteen (14) calendar days after the 
application was referred by the city manager. 

D. The city manager shall provide a written report to the city council, with a copy to the 
applicant, listing any objections to the Board’s issuance of the application. The city 

49



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 4 of 17 

manager’s report is due within twenty (20) days after the date of receipt of notice from 
the city clerk. 

E. An applicant who believes the city manager’s report contains factual errors shall file a 
written protest outlining, with specifics, the sections of the report believed to be 
factually incorrect. Such protest must be filed to the city manager not later than ten 
(10) calendar days after issuance of the city manager report. 

F. The city manager shall investigate the applicant’s protest and shall issue a written 
decision no later than ten (10) calendar days after receipt of the protest. 

G. The city clerk shall place the matter of the application upon the city council agenda 
not less than thirty (30) and not more than forty (40) calendar days after the date of 
receipt from the Board.  

5.08.030  City council review of license. 
The city council shall determine whether to protest or recommend with conditions, the 
issuance, renewal or transfer of a liquor license application and shall consider the 
following factors it believes are pertinent. Such factors shall include, but not be limited 
to: 

A. City records indicating whether the applicant and/or transferor is in violation of the 
city sales tax ordinances or regulations, has failed to comply with any of the filing, 
reporting or payment provisions of the city ordinances or regulations, or has any unpaid 
balance due on tax accounts for which the applicant and/or transferor is liable; 

B. The character and public interests of the surrounding neighborhood; 

C. Actual law enforcement problems with supporting data; 

D. The concentration of other licenses of the same and other types in the area; 

E. The adequacy of parking facilities; 

F. The safety of ingress to and egress from the premises; 

G. Compliance with state and local fire, health and safety codes; 

H. The degree of control the licensee has or proposes to have over the conduct of the 
licensed business. In determining the applicant’s demonstrated ability to maintain order 
and prevent unlawful conduct, the city council may consider police reports, the 
appearance of a readily identifiable pattern or practice of recurring violent acts or 
unlawful conduct on the licensed premises, testimony presented before the council, 
written comments, or other evidence deemed to be reliable and relevant to the purpose 
of this subsection; 

I. Whether the applicant can demonstrate prospective or continued compliance with 
operations procedures for licensed premises set forth in BMC 5.08.110; 

50



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 5 of 17 

J. The proximity to a school or alcohol inpatient or outpatient treatment; 

K. Any history of convictions of the applicants and affiliates of the applicants for: 

1. Any violation of AS Title 4; 

L. Any other factor the city council determines is relevant to a particular application.  

5.08.040  Council action on liquor license applications. 
A. If a city council member wishes to protest the application, a resolution shall be 
prepared and introduced at the next regularly scheduled council meeting or earlier if 
necessary to meet the requirements of AS 04.11.480. 

B. At least seven (7) calendar days prior to the council meeting, the city clerk shall 
provide the applicant with: 

1. A copy of the proposed resolution; and 

2. Notice of the date and time when council will consider the resolution; and 

3. Notice the applicant will have an opportunity, pursuant to 3 AAC 304.145(d), to 
appear before the council to defend the application. 

C. A protest by the council under this section cannot be based in whole or in part on 
police reports or other written materials available to the city but which were not 
provided to the affected applicant before the public hearing on that protest. 

D. At the conclusion of the public hearing, and any deliberation of the council, the 
council may choose to: 

1. Pass the resolution protesting to the Board the issuance, transfer or renewal of 
the liquor license application; or 

2. Recommend the license be approved with conditions; or 

3. Take no action on the application.  

5.08.050  Recordkeeping required of all sellers. 
A. Premises licensed under AS 04.11 shall keep and preserve suitable records of all 
sales made by the seller and such other books or accounts as may be necessary to 
determine the amount of tax which it is obliged to collect, including records of the gross 
daily sales, together with invoices of purchases and sales, bills of lading, bills of sale or 
other pertinent records and documents as will substantiate and prove the accuracy of a 
tax return. 

B. “Suitable records of all sales made” as used in subsection A of this section shall mean 
at a minimum a daily “Z” or “Z-total” report or equivalent (a “Z” or “Z-total” report is 
the report generated by the cash register at the end of each business day, which 

51



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 6 of 17 

calculates, at least, the totals for each department key, total sales and total receipts – 
although some cash registers have more detailed “Z” or “Z-total” reports). Whatever 
records are kept must reflect the total daily purchases of taxable items. If no taxable 
sales are made on a business day, the records kept shall so reflect “zero” sales on that 
day. Records must also be kept to substantiate any claimed deductions or exclusions 
authorized by law. Records may be written, stored on data processing equipment or 
may be in any form that the city may readily examine. 

C. All sellers within the city who sell alcoholic beverages must have a cash register and 
must record each retail sale on a cash register that provides, at a minimum, a daily “Z” 
or “Z-total” report, or equivalent. 

D. Records shall be kept in a systematic manner conforming to accepted accounting 
methods and procedures. Such records include: 

1. The books of accounts ordinarily maintained by a prudent business person. 
Records and accounting information stored on computers must be provided to the 
city in a readable form when requested by the city. 

2. Documents of original entry such as original source documents, pre-numbered 
sequential source documents, pre-numbered sequential receipts, cash register 
tapes, sales journals, invoices, job orders, contracts, or other documents of original 
entry that support the entries in the books of accounts. 

3. All schedules or working papers used to prepare gross and taxable sales results, 
including receipts or invoices showing exempt sales. 

E. Records must show: 

1. Gross receipts and amounts due from all taxable and exempt sales; and 

2. The total purchase price of all goods and other property purchased for sale, 
resale, consumption, or lease. 

F. Every seller shall preserve suitable records of sales for a period of three (3) years 
from the date of the return reporting such sales, and shall preserve for a period of 
three (3) years all invoices of goods and merchandise purchased for resale, and all such 
other books, invoices and records as may be necessary to accurately determine the 
amount of taxes which the seller was obliged to collect under this chapter. 

G. The city finance department may examine and audit any relevant books, papers, 
records, returns or memoranda of any seller, may require the attendance of any seller, 
or any officer or employee of a seller, at a meeting with the finance director or his or 
her designee, and may require production of all relevant business records, in order to 
determine whether the seller has complied with this chapter.  

52



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 7 of 17 

5.08.060  Conditional use permit required. 
Unless exempt, any use that includes the retail sale or dispensing of alcoholic beverages 
is permitted only by a conditional use permit. The conditional use requirement applies 
only to the retail sale or dispensing of alcoholic beverages and not to related principal 
or accessory uses.  

5.08.070  Licensee responsible for employees’ actions on premises. 
A. A licensee may neither knowingly allow agents or employees to violate this chapter 
or AS Title 4 or regulations adopted thereunder, or to recklessly or with criminal or civil 
negligence fail to act in accordance with the duties prescribed under AS 04.21.030 with 
the result that an agent or employee of the licensee violates a law, regulation or 
ordinance. 

B. The licensee shall be responsible for all acts or omissions of the licensee’s employees 
on the licensed premises. The licensee may be cited and prosecuted for all acts or 
omissions of employees which are committed on the licensed premises and which are in 
violation of this chapter; provided, however, that the prosecution of the licensee shall 
not prohibit the prosecution of the employee for acts or omissions committed by the 
employee in violation of any provision of this chapter.  

5.08.080  Hours and days of operation. 
A. Premises licensed under AS 04.11.080 for the service and consumption of alcoholic 
beverages shall be closed for the sale, service and consumption of alcoholic beverages 
between the hours of 1:00 a.m. and 11:00 a.m. Monday through Friday, and between 
the hours of 2:00 a.m. and 11:00 a.m. on Saturday or Sunday or on a legal holiday 
recognized by the state under AS 44.12.010 with the exception of New Year’s Day 
during which the establishment shall close by 3:00 a.m. 

B. All other retail premises licensed under AS 04.11.080 shall be closed for the sale of 
alcoholic beverages between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 11:00 a.m.  

C. A person may not sell, offer for sale, give, furnish, deliver or consume an alcoholic 
beverage on premises licensed under AS 04.11 during the hours of closure set forth in 
this section. 

D. A licensee, an agent, or employee may not permit a person to consume alcoholic 
beverages on the licensed premises between the hours of closure set forth in this 
section. 

E.  As authorized by AS 04.16.070(b), the sale of alcoholic beverages on state and/or 
city election days is not prohibited. 

5.08.090  Obligation to enforce restrictions within licensed premises. 
A licensee, their agent or employee may not permit the consumption of alcoholic 
beverages by any person within the licensed premises unless it is permitted by the 
license.  

53



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 8 of 17 

5.08.100  Alcohol server training course requirement. 
A. A licensee, their agent or employees may not sell or dispense alcoholic beverages to 
the public prior to the successful completion of a liquor server awareness training 
program approved by the Board. 

B. Licensees, their agents and employees who sell or dispense alcoholic beverages must 
be able to show proof of completion of a liquor server awareness training program 
approved by the Board upon request by a peace officer, the city manager (or their 
designee) or the Board.  

5.08.110 Operation of licensed premises. 
A. Except as otherwise provided in this section, the operations procedures set forth in 
subsection B of this section shall apply to all persons seeking the issuance, renewal or 
transfer of any license issued by the Board by virtue of AS Title 4 and other applicable 
provisions of law allowing the sale or service of alcoholic beverages. Subsection (B)(1 2) 
of this section shall not apply to persons seeking the issuance, transfer or renewal of 
licenses issued under AS Title 4 which do not authorize the sale or service of alcoholic 
beverages for consumption on the premises licensed. 

B. Persons seeking the issuance, transfer or renewal of licenses issued by the Board 
under AS Title 4 and other applicable provisions of law shall comply with the following 
operations procedures: 

1. Happy Hours. The city adopts AS 04.16.015, Pricing and marketing of alcoholic 
beverages. 

2. Public Transportation. Licensees shall make available to their patrons access to 
means of public transportation or permit patrons to make arrangements for 
transportation off the premises. 

3. Notice of Penalties. Operators shall place, at conspicuous locations within 
licensed premises, a clear and legible sign describing applicable penalties for driving 
under the influence, and for service or sale of alcoholic beverages to minors or 
intoxicated persons. 

4. Availability of Nonalcoholic Drinks. Operators shall have nonalcoholic drinks 
available for their patrons. 

5. Compliance Determination. In order to determine whether applicants seeking the 
issuance, renewal or transfer of alcoholic beverage licenses have complied with the 
provisions of this chapter, applicants shall, at the request of the city, submit to the 
city manager (or their designee) an alcoholic beverage licensee compliance form. 
Upon request, operators shall also provide the city manager with certificates from all 
current employees demonstrating that those employees have successfully 
completed a liquor service awareness training program such as the program for 
techniques in alcohol management (T.A.M.) as approved by the Board. 

54



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 9 of 17 

6. Warning Signs for Impoundment and Forfeiture of Vehicles Seized Pursuant to an 
Arrest for or Charge of Driving under the Influence or Refusal to Submit to Chemical 
Tests. Upon adoption of a municipal code allowing for the forfeiture, operators shall 
display at conspicuous places in licensed premises two (2) signs warning that 
vehicles are seized in cases of driving under the influence or refusal to submit to 
chemical tests. One of these warning signs shall be at least eleven (11) inches by 
fourteen (14) inches in size, and must read, in lettering at least one-half (1/2) inch 
high and in contrasting colors or black and white, “DRIVE UNDER THE INFLUENCE – 
LOSE YOUR CAR.” The sign described in the preceding sentence must carry a logo 
or illustration approved by the chief of police or their designee which shows an 
automobile being towed. The second warning sign shall be at least eleven (11) 
inches by fourteen (14) inches and must read, in letters at least one-quarter (1/4) 
inch high and in contrasting colors or black and white: 

WARNING: IF YOU DRIVE UNDER THE INFLUENCE OR LET ANYONE 
DRIVE YOUR VEHICLE UNDER THE INFLUENCE, YOU WILL LOSE 
YOUR VEHICLE. The police SEIZE cars and trucks driven by intoxicated 
drivers. A vehicle will be IMPOUNDED for 30 days for the driver’s first 
DUI offense. A vehicle will be FORFEITED if the driver has been 
convicted of DUI in the past ten (10) years. 

7. Warning Signs Required Other. The city adopts AS 04.21.065(b). 

C. Mandatory Identification Check in the Retail Sale of Alcoholic Beverages. Licensee or 
licensee’s employee or agent shall require any purchaser (and anyone accompanying 
the purchaser) of alcoholic beverages to produce a current government-issued 
identification with birth date and photograph for identification check prior to any on-
premises sale. The purpose of the identification check is to verify age and eligibility to 
purchase alcoholic beverages. Failure to conduct the mandatory identification check 
required by this section is a violation of code and the licensee or licensee’s employee or 
agent failing to conduct the mandatory identification check shall be subject to the civil 
penalty provisions of this chapter. For purposes of mandatory identification check 
required by this section: 

1. “Current government-issued” means a state, federal or foreign government 
picture identification in force and effect for a specified period stated within the 
identification, when presented prior to expiration of the period stated. A state 
government identification with birth date and photograph issued by any state of the 
United States is included within the meaning of “current government-issued” if the 
period of validity is specified and the identification is presented prior to expiration of 
the period stated. 

2. The subsequent invalidation of the identification as a bona fide government-
issued identification does not invalidate the compliance. 

55



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 10 of 17 

3. An ongoing pattern of noncompliance with the mandatory identification check 
required by this code may result in review of the conditions of use or may result in 
the revocation of a special use permit previously approved by the city council. 
Action by the city council on licensee’s special use permit under this section shall be 
in addition to any criminal or civil penalty applicable to the individual making the 
sale without performing the mandatory identification check. 

D. Security Personnel.  

1. Each premises licensed under AS 04.11.090, Beverage dispensary license, shall 
employ at least one (1) person who shall be on duty between 8:00 p.m. and the 
closing hour of the licensed premises. This person shall not be the bartender on 
duty, and shall be on duty for the express purpose of maintaining order within 
the establishment and assuring compliance, by the clientele, with the provisions 
of this chapter. 

2. Each premise licensed under AS 04.11.150, Package Store license, shall have at 
least two (2) uniformed security guards on duty during all times which the 
premises are open for business.  Security guards shall be trained in CPR and 
shall be responsible for patrolling both the inside and the outside of the 
premises.  At no time may the premises be open for business without at least 
two (2) security guards present.   

E. Security Cameras. At least one (1) twenty-four- (24-) hour time-lapse security 
camera is required to be installed and properly maintained in the interior of the building 
at all locations licensed under AS 04.11.150, Package store license. The cameras must 
be able to capture all sales transactions. To the extent allowed by law, the 
establishment operators may be required to provide any tapes or other recording media 
from the security camera to the police department.   

1. All premises licensed under AS 04.11.150 (Package Store license) and AS 
04.11.090 (Beverage Dispensary License) shall install and properly maintain at 
least two (2) motion-activated cameras.  One of the cameras must be able to 
capture all sales transactions occurring inside the Premises while the other 
camera must be able to capture the entire parking lot area.   

2. All premises licensed under AS 04.11.100 (Restaurant or Eating Place License) 
shall install and properly maintain at least one (1) motion-activated cameras on 
the premises, positioned in such a way as to capture all sales transactions. 

3. Security cameras must be capable of recording.  Recordings shall be stored for a 
minimum period of two (2) weeks thirty (30) days. 

4. To the extent allowed by law, the establishment operators may be required to 
provide footage from the security cameras to the police.   

56



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 11 of 17 

F. Premises to Be Cleared upon Closing. Upon closing, licensees shall clear alcoholic 
beverage establishment of all persons, other than necessary employees, within fifteen 
(15) minutes after the closing hours. 

G. Age Limit Signs to Be Exhibited. All licensees shall cause to remain displayed upon 
the premises and in the entrance to the premises of their establishments a conspicuous 
sign in a prominent place visible from outside the establishment, which shall in 
substance state: “No person under the age of twenty-one (21) years permitted. Any 
such person will be prosecuted to the full extent of the law.” Excepting that licensed 
establishments regularly serving meals may modify the sign in accordance with the 
provisions of this chapter and AS Title 4.  

5.08.120  Restrictions on purchase and sale of alcoholic beverages. 
A. A person licensed under AS 04.11.090 (Beverage Dispensary License), 04.11.100 
(Restaurant or Eating Place), 04.11.110 (Club License), or 04.11.150 (Package Store) 
may not purchase, sell, or offer for sale an alcoholic beverage unless the alcoholic 
beverage being purchased, sold, or offered for sale was obtained from a person 
licensed under: 

1. AS 04.11.160 (wholesale licenses) as a primary source of supply for the alcoholic 
beverage being purchased, sold, or offered for sale; 

2. AS 04.11.150 (package store) and the alcoholic beverage being purchased, sold, 
or offered for sale was obtained from a person licensed under AS 04.11.160 
(wholesale) as a primary source of supply; or 

3. AS 04.11.130 (licensed brewery), 04.11.140 (licensed winery), or 04.11.170 
(licensed distillery).  

5.08.130  Sale to intoxicated persons. 
A. A licensee, his agent or employee may not knowingly or negligently: 

1. Sell, give or barter alcoholic beverages to an intoxicated person; 

2. Allow another person to sell, give or barter an alcoholic beverage to an 
intoxicated person within the licensed premises; 

3. Allow an intoxicated person to enter and remain within the licensed premises or 
to consume an alcoholic beverage within the licensed premises; or 

4. Permit an intoxicated person to sell or serve alcoholic beverages.  

5.08.140  Eviction of patrons. 
The licensee and employees of the licensee are expressly permitted to evict any person 
suspected of being under the age of twenty-one (21) or intoxicated and failure of such 
person to leave after oral request is unlawful and an offense on the part of that person.  

57



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 12 of 17 

5.08.150  Open container. 
A. It shall be unlawful to consume an open container of alcoholic beverages on the 
public streets, sidewalks, alleys, parks, or other public places throughout the city. Open 
containers of alcoholic beverages may be carried in a vehicle in a locked truck or other 
secured location inaccessible to the driver and passengers within the vehicle. 

B. Open containers are permitted on private residential property, with the consent of 
the owner or legal occupant of the property.  

5.08.160  Transportation of alcohol. 
The transportation of alcoholic beverages by common carrier or commercial carrier 
within the city of Bethel to a residential home or nonlicensed alcohol distribution facility 
is strictly prohibited except as expressly authorized by AS Title 4.  

5.08.170  Inspection of premises. 
A. The premises of licensees authorized to sell or distribute intoxicating liquor shall be 
easily accessible for inspection by police officers during all regular hours of the 
transaction of business upon the premises, and at any other time with reasonable 
notice by the officer. 

B. The police department may inspect any premises with an alcoholic beverage license 
for compliance with conditions on the license. Upon discovering a violation of such 
conditions, the police department shall submit a written report of the violation to the 
city clerk for review by the city council and provide a copy thereof to the licensee. 

C. If at any time there appears to be a readily identifiable pattern or practice of 
recurring violent acts or unlawful conduct in a licensed premises, the city may send 
notice of possible protest to the licensee that he or she must submit and implement a 
plan for remedial action or be in jeopardy that a protest will be filed to any renewal, 
transfer of location or transfer of ownership sought by the licensee. 

D. Upon receiving a report of conditions violation, the city council may: 

1. Revoke the premises’ conditional use permit; 

2. Protest the issuance, renewal, transfer, relocation or continued operation of the 
license; 

3. Recommend imposition of conditions on the state liquor license pursuant to AS 
04.11.480(c); or 

4. Notify the Board that a licensee has violated conditions and request that an 
accusation pursuant to AS 04.11.370 be brought against the licensee. 

E. Prior to taking any of the actions listed in subsection (D) of this section, the city shall 
give the permittee or licensee notice and an opportunity to be heard on the 
accusation(s) at a publicly noticed council meeting. 

58



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 13 of 17 

5.08.180  Access for enforcement. 
A. The public entrance of licensed alcoholic beverage establishments shall be open and 
unlocked before and after the closing hour of such establishment if there are any 
patrons in the establishment. 

B. Licensees of licensed alcoholic beverage establishments, their employees and all 
patrons in such establishments shall permit and aid the entry of any law enforcement 
officer during all hours of operation and at any other time when there are two or more 
persons in such licensed alcoholic beverage establishment. 

C. Lack of knowledge, lack of intent and absence from the premises shall not be 
defenses to any action brought under this section against any such employee in charge 
of such establishment or such licensee. 

D. Licensees shall provide the police chief with their current hours of operation. Any 
changes to the hours of operation shall be communicated, in writing, to the police chief, 
at least three (3) business days prior to the change being implemented.  

5.08.190  Alcohol offenses. 
A. Violation of any section of this chapter shall be an infraction. 

B. The Bethel police department shall have the authority to write and serve citations for 
violations of the provisions of any portion of this chapter.  

5.08.200 Penalties. 
  

Offense BMC Section 
Mandatory 

Court 
Appearance 

Penalty Amount 

Premises open during 
non-permissible hours 

5.08.080(A) & (B) No 1st Offense: $150 
2nd Offense: $300 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $700 

Selling, offering for sale, 
giving, furnishing, 
delivering or consuming 
alcohol on premises 
during hours of closure 

5.08.080(C) No $300 

Allowing person to 
consume alcohol on 
premises during hours of 
closure 

5.08.080(D) No $300 

59



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 14 of 17 

Offense BMC Section 
Mandatory 

Court 
Appearance 

Penalty Amount 

Allowing consumption on 
premises in violation of 
license 

5.08.090 No $500 

Selling or dispensing 
alcohol prior to 
successful completion of 
a liquor server 
awareness training 
program 

5.08.100(A) Yes $1,000 

Allowing employee to 
sell or dispense alcohol 
prior to their successful 
completion of a liquor 
server awareness 
training program 

5.08.100(A) Yes $1,000 

Failure to show proof of 
successful completion of 
a liquor server 
awareness training 
program 

5.08.100(B) Correctable $300 

Violation of happy hour 
rules 

5.08.110(B)(2) No $300 

Failure to provide access 
to means of public 
transportation to patrons 
or to arrange for 
transportation off 
premises 

5.08.110(B)(3) No $500 

Failure to properly post 
signs 

5.08.110(B)(4), 
(6), (7) 

No $250 

Failure to have 
nonalcoholic drinks 
available 

5.08.110(B)(5) No $150 

Failure to submit an 
alcoholic beverage 
compliance form upon 
request 

5.08.110(B)(6) No $300 

60



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 15 of 17 

Offense BMC Section 
Mandatory 

Court 
Appearance 

Penalty Amount 

Failure to check 
identification of 
purchaser 

5.08.110(C) Yes 1st offense: $500 
2nd offense: $700 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $1,000 

Acceptance of 
nonconforming 
identification for 
purchase of alcoholic 
beverage 

5.08.110(C) Yes 1st offense: $150 
2nd offense: $300 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $700 

Failure to have security 
personnel on premises 
as required 

5.08.110(D) No 1st offense: $500 
2nd offense: $700 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $1,000 

Premises open without 
the presence of required 
security guards 

5.08.110(D) No $1,000 

Failure to install or 
maintain security 
equipment 

5.08.110(E) Yes 1st offense: $500 
2nd offense: $700 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $1,000 

Failure to maintain 
recordings 

5.08.110(E) No $750 

Interior camera not 
positioned to capture 
sales transactions 

5.08.110(E) Yes 1st offense: $500 
2nd offense: $700 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $1,000 

Exterior camera not 
positioned to capture 
parking lot 

5.08.110(E) No $750 

Failure to clear premises 
after closing 

5.08.110(F) No 1st offense: $150 
2nd offense: $300 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $700 

Failing to post age limit 
signs 

5.08.110(G) No $300 

61



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 16 of 17 

Offense BMC Section 
Mandatory 

Court 
Appearance 

Penalty Amount 

Sale of alcoholic 
beverages improperly 
obtained 

5.08.120 Yes $700 

Sale of alcohol to an 
intoxicated person 

5.08.130 Yes 1st offense: $500 
2nd offense: $700 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $1,000 

Providing alcohol to an 
intoxicated person 

5.08.130 Yes 1st offense: $500 
2nd offense: $700 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $1,000 

Allowing another person 
to sell or provide alcohol 
to an intoxicated person 

5.08.130(A)(2) Yes 1st offense: $500 
2nd offense: $700 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $1,000 

Allowing an intoxicated 
person to enter and 
remain within licensed 
premises 

5.08.130(A)(3) Yes 1st offense: $150 
2nd offense: $300 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $700 

Permitting intoxicated 
person to consume 
alcoholic beverage within 
a licensed premises 

5.08.130(A)(3) Yes 1st offense: $500 
2nd offense: $700 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $1,000 

Permitting an intoxicated 
person to sell or serve 
an alcoholic beverage 

5.08.130(A)(4) Yes 1st offense: $500 
2nd offense: $700 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $1,000 

Carrying, possessing or 
consuming an open 
container in public  

5.08.150 No 1st offense: $150 
2nd offense: $300 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $700 

Transportation of alcohol 
by common carrier  

5.08.160 Yes 1st offense: $500 
2nd offense: $700 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $1,000 

62



Introduced by: Council Member Albertson 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018 
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-13 
  Page 17 of 17 

Offense BMC Section 
Mandatory 

Court 
Appearance 

Penalty Amount 

Transportation of alcohol 
by commercial carrier 

5.08.160 Yes 1st offense: $500 
2nd offense: $700 
3rd & subsequent 
offenses: $1,000 

Failure to make premises 
easily accessible for 
inspection by police 
officers 

5.08.170(A) Yes $700 

Failing to maintain 
premises unlocked while 
patrons are on premises 

5.08.180(A) Yes $1,000 

Failure to permit or aid 
the entry of law 
enforcement during 
hours of operation 

5.08.180(B) Yes $700 

Failure to permit or aid 
the entry of law 
enforcement any time 
there are two (2) or 
more persons on the 
premises 

5.08.180(B) Yes $700 

 
NOW, BE IT ORDAINED, the City Council amends the Bethel Municipal Code, Chapter 
5.08, by amending the language for requiring a global positioning system.  
 
SECTION 1.  Classification.  This is a Codified Ordinance and shall become part of the 
Bethel Municipal Code. 
 
SECTION 2.  Amendments.  Bethel Municipal Code Chapter 5.08 is amended as follows: 
(new language is underlined and old language is stricken): 
 
SECTION 3.  Effective date.  This ordinance shall become effective June 15, 2018 
thirty(30) days after passage by the Bethel City Council.  
 
ATTEST:      __________________________ 
       Richard Robb, Mayor 
________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

63



Recommended Amendment 

D. Security Personnel. 

1. Each premises licensed under AS 04.11.090, Beverage dispensary license, shall
employ at least one (1) person who shall be on duty between 8:00 p.m. and the 
closing hour of the licensed premises. This person shall not be the bartender on 
duty, and shall be on duty for the express purpose of maintaining order within 
the establishment and assuring compliance, by the clientele, with the provisions 
of this chapter. 

2. Each premise licensed under AS 04.11.150, Package Store license, or AS
04.11.090, Beverage Dispensary License, shall have at least two (2) uniformed
security guards on duty during all times which the premises are open for
business.  Security guards shall be trained in CPR and shall be responsible for
patrolling both the inside and the outside of the premises.  At no time may the
premises be open for business without at least two (2) security guards present.

E. Security Cameras. At least one (1) twenty-four- (24-) hour time-lapse security 
camera is required to be installed and properly maintained in the interior of the building 
at all locations licensed under AS 04.11.150, Package store license. The cameras must 
be able to capture all sales transactions. To the extent allowed by law, the 
establishment operators may be required to provide any tapes or other recording media 
from the security camera to the police department.  

1. All premises licensed under AS 04.11.150 (Package Store license) and AS
04.11.090 (Beverage Dispensary License) shall install and properly maintain at
least two (2) motion-activated cameras.  One of the cameras must be able to
capture all sales transactions occurring inside the Premises while the other
camera must be able to capture the entire parking lot area.

2. All premises licensed under AS 04.11.100 (Restaurant or Eating Place License)
shall install and properly maintain at least one (1) motion-activated cameras on
the premises, positioned in such a way as to capture all sales transactions.

3. Security cameras must be capable of recording.  Recordings shall be stored for a
minimum period of two (2) weeks.

4. To the extent allowed by law, the establishment operators may be required to
provide footage from the security cameras to the police.

for Ordinance 18-13.

64



         City of Bethel
Ordinance #17-28(p) 

1 of 3

Introduced by:
Introduction Date:

Public Hearing: June 26, 2018

Action:
Vote:

WHEREAS, the Fire Department insurance line item (10-60-721) was underbudgeted and must be corrected;

WHEREAS, Decreases in Fire Department heating fuel, collection fees, and vehicle maintenance services represent
appropriate sources of funds to cover the insurance increase with no negative impact expected to the Fire Department

WHEREAS, Bethel City Council approved Budget Modification Ordinance #17-28(i) on February 27, 2018 that increased the
Other Professional Services line item (10-43-649) in the General Fund by $60,000;

WHEREAS, the increase should have been made to Purchased Services (10-53-669) and this Budget Modification Ordinance
acts to make the correction;

WHEREAS, Hauled Water and Hauled Sewer Department insurance line items (51-81-721 and 51-81-721) were underbudgeted
and must be corrected;

WHEREAS, Decreases in Vehicle Maintenance for Water and Sewer Departments are appropriate sources of funds to cover the 
insurance increase with no negative impact expected to the Hauled Water and Hauled Sewer Departments

WHEREAS, the Vehicle and Equipment Maintenance Department insurance line item (57-50-721) was underbudgeted and must be corrected;

WHEREAS, A decrease in Heating Fuel is an appropriate source of funds to cover the insurance increase with no negative impact expected;

Section 1.  That the following sums of money as may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

FIRE DEPARTMENT
Increases

10-60-721 INSURANCE - FD 35,400                

Total Increases 35,400 
Decreases

10-60-623 HEATING FUEL (8,000)
10-60-647 COLLECTION FEES (18,000)
10-60-660 VEHICLE MAINT SERVICES (9,400)

Total Decreases (35,400)

Total 0 

FINANCE DEPARTMENT
Increases

10-53-669 PURCHASED SERVICES 60,000 
Total Increases 60,000 

Decreases
10-53-649 OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 60,000 

Total Decreases 60,000 

TOTAL CHANGE TO GENERAL FUND APPROPRIATIONS
Total Increases 35,400 

GENERAL FUND

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and objects of the City hereinafter specified for 
Fiscal Year 2018, July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018.

Peter Williams, City Manager
June 12, 2018

ORDINANCE # 17-28(p)

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA

An Ordinance of the Bethel City Council Amending the Adopted Annual FY 2018 Budget

Be it Enacted by the Bethel City Council that the FY 2018 Annual Budget be amended as follows:

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

65



         City of Bethel
Ordinance #17-28(p) 

2 of 3

Total Decreases 0 
Cumulative Change to APPROPRIATIONS 35,400 

TOTAL CHANGE TO GENERAL FUND BALANCE
Change to GENERAL FUND Revenues 0 

Change to GENERAL FUND Appropriations 35,400 
Cumulative Increase (Decrease) to General Fund Balance (35,400)

WATER AND SEWER FUND
HAULED WATER & HAULED SEWER DEPARTMENTS

Increases
51-81-721 INSURANCE - H WATER 33,000                
51-85-721 INSURANCE - H SEWER 27,000 

Total Increases 60,000 
Decreases

51-81-661 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE - H WATER (33,000)
51-85-721 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE - H SEWER (27,000)

Total Decreases (60,000)
Total 0 

TOTAL CHANGE TO WATER AND SEWER FUND APPROPRIATIONS
Total Increases 60,000 
Total Decreases (60,000)

Cumulative Change to APPROPRIATIONS 0 

TOTAL CHANGE TO WATER AND SEWER FUND BALANCE
Change to WATER AND SEWER Fund Revenues 0 

Change to WATER AND SEWER Fund Appropriations 0 
Cumulative Increase (Decrease) to Fund Balance 0 

V & E FUND
VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT

Increases
57-50-721 INSURANCE 15,000                

Total Increases 15,000 
Decreases

57-50-623 HEATING FUEL (15,000)

Total Decreases (15,000)
Total 0 

TOTAL CHANGE TO V & E FUND APPROPRIATIONS
Total Increases 15,000 
Total Decreases (15,000)

Cumulative Change to APPROPRIATIONS 0 

TOTAL CHANGE TO V&E MAINTENANCE FUND BALANCE
Change to V & E  MAINTENANCE Fund Revenues 0 

Change to V & E MAINTENANCE Fund Appropriations 0 
Cumulative Increase (Decrease) to Fund Balance 0 

TOTAL CHANGE TO OVERALL CITY BUDGET
Change to Revenues  Increase/(Decrease) 0

Change to Appropriations  Increase/(Decrease) 0

These changes INCREASE ↑ the overall expenditures/expenses of the City by 0

Section 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance becomes effective immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS __ DAY OF JUNE 2018 BY A VOTE OF __ IN FAVOR AND __ OPPOSED.

ATTEST:
                                                                                          ____________________________________
                                                                       Richard Robb, Mayor

66



         City of Bethel
Ordinance #17-28(p) 

3 of 3

_____________________________
Lori Strickler, City Clerk

67



Suggested amendments to Ordinance # 17-28 (p) from Finance Department

Amendment #1: Strike 10-53-669 for $60,000 and 10-53-649 for ($60,000)

Amendment #2: Insert 10-53-649 for $95,000 and insert 10-66-773 for ($60,000), 

10-70-623 for ($5,000), 10-70-668 for ($15,000) and 10-70-669 for ($15,000).

The NET result is the General Fund expenditures do not change and the Finance Department

is fully funded, due to unexpended amounts from other departments. 

SUGGESTED 
ACCOUNT # Increases ORIGINAL AMENDMENT
10-53-669 PURCHASED SERVICES 60,000 -                 

10-53-649 OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 95,000            

Total Increases 60,000            95,000 

Decreases

10-53-649 OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES (60,000)

10-66-773 RIDGECREST DRIVE (60,000)           

10-70-623 HEATING FUEL (5,000)            

10-70-668 PARKS MAINTENANCE (15,000)           

10-70-669 OTHER PURCHASED SERVICES (15,000)           

Total Decreases (60,000) (95,000)

                                                                                                              TOTAL 0 0 

GENERAL FUND

Change to GENERAL FUND: FINANCE, STREETS AND ROADS AND PROPERTY MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENTS

         City of Bethel
Ordinance #

1 of 1
68



 

New Business   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

69



Introduced by: Council Member Williams 
 Introduction Date June 26, 2018 

Public Hearing:  
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-14 
  Page 1 of 1 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance # 18-14 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING BETHEL MUNICIPAL CODE 4.16.160, SALES TAX, TAX 
EXEMPTIONS, MAKING ALL REAL ESTATE SALES TAX EXEMPT 

 
 
SECTION 1.  Classification.  This is a Codified Ordinance and shall become part of the 
Bethel Municipal Code. 
 
SECTION 2.  Amendments.  Bethel Municipal Code Chapter 4.16.160, Sales Taxes, Tax 
Exemptions, is amended as follows: (new language is underlined and old language is 
stricken): 
 
P. Real Estate Sales. Only the first twenty (20) percent of the sale price of real property 
is subject to city sales tax*. 
Example: Home selling for $275,000 

$275,000 x 
20% 

= $55,000 (first 20% of the sale price) 

$55,000 x 
6% 
(sales tax) 

= $3,300 sales tax due to city 

  Home selling for $450,000 

$450,000 x 
20% 

= $90,000 (first 20% of the sale price) 

$90,000 x 
6% 

= $5,400 sales tax due to city 

*    This exemption does not apply to rentals of real property. This exemption applies to 
all sales of real property, including casual and isolated sales. 
 
SECTION 3.  Effective date.  This ordinance shall become effective after passage by the 
Bethel City Council.  
 
 
ATTEST:      __________________________ 
       Richard Robb, Mayor 
 
________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

70



Introduced by: Council Member Forbes 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing:  
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-15 
  Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 
 

Ordinance # 18-15 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING BETHEL MUNICIPAL CODE 4.16, SALES TAXES TO 
ADD A PROVISION FOR A USE TAX ON ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES 

 
WHEREAS,  in 1998, the City of Bethel did an extensive rewrite of the sales tax code;  
 
WHEREAS,  the 1998 version of the sales tax code included a provision for a use tax on 

the use, consumption and sale of alcoholic beverages;  
 
WHEREAS,  the use tax was levied in Bethel from April of 1999, when the new sales tax 

code went into effect, until 2009 when the citizens of Bethel voted to remove 
the local option restriction then in effect; 

 
WHEREAS,  in 2016, the City of Bethel began the process of updating the sales tax code; 
 
WHEREAS,  because a use tax cannot be levied unless the community is in a local option 

status, the committee did not consider reinstating the use tax;  
 
WHEREAS,  in October of this year the issue of returning to local option will once again 

be before the Bethel voters;  
 
WHEREAS,  while the outcome of the vote is unknown, having both the alcohol tax and 

the use tax in the Bethel Municipal Code can only be a benefit; 
 

WHEREAS,   because which tax is applicable depends on the city’s alcohol status, having 
both ordinances in the Code is not contradictory;  

 
WHEREAS,   if the City voters elects to remain wet, the current alcohol tax will be the 

only one legally applicable and therefore the only one that can and will be 
enforced – the use tax will simply remain in a dormant status;  

 
WHEREAS,   conversely, if the City voters elect to return to local option, the current 

alcohol tax will be the one that becomes dormant while the use tax will 
automatically become active;  

 
 WHEREAS,   the City of Bethel currently imposes sales taxes at three different levels: 6% 

on regular items; 12% on lodging and 15% on alcohol and marijuana;  
 
WHEREAS,   pursuant to AS 29.45.650(b), the City’s use tax can be at the rate of the 

sales tax;  

71



Introduced by: Council Member Forbes 
 Introduction Date June 12, 2018 

Public Hearing:  
Action:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 18-15 
  Page 2 of 2 

 
NOW, BE IT ORDAINED, the City Council amends the Bethel Municipal Code, Chapter 
4.16, Sales Taxes, by adding a new section regarding an alcohol use tax. 
 
SECTION 1.  Classification.  This is a Codified Ordinance and shall become part of the 
Bethel Municipal Code. 
 
SECTION 2.  Amendments.  Bethel Municipal Code Chapter 4.16, Sales Taxes, is 
amended as follows: (new language is underlined and old language is stricken): 
 
4.16.010 Definitions   
 
W. Alcohol Use Tax means a tax imposed by the City, while under a local option as defined 
in AS 04.11.491, on the use, storage, or consumption of alcoholic beverages     
 
4.16.075 Alcohol Use Tax 
There is levied and shall be collected a use tax on the storage, use, and/or consumption 
of alcoholic beverages in the city.   

A. The tax applied shall be at the same rate as the highest sales tax rate levied under 
this chapter. 

B. The buyer shall pay the tax.   
C. Business operating outside the city limits receiving orders for alcoholic beverages 

to be shipped by the seller, seller’s agent or employee by common carrier to an 
address or person in the City, is responsible for tax collection and remittance to 
the City in the same manner as required for sales taxes levied by the City. 

D. Such seller shall be liable for remittance of the use tax in the same manner as a 
person who is required to collect the City sales tax on the sale of other goods. 

E. The buyer shall be liable to the City for all use taxes not collected by a seller.   
 
SECTION 3.  Effective date.  This ordinance shall become effective June 29, 2018 after 
passage by the Bethel City Council.  
 
 
ATTEST:      __________________________ 
       Richard Robb, Mayor 
 
________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

72



Introduced by:
Introduction Date:

Public Hearing:
Action:

Vote:

ORDINANCE # 18-12(a) 

An Ordinance of the Bethel City Council Amending the Adopted Annual FY 2019 Budget

WHEREAS, the City of Bethel established the Community Action Grant Program to allow community individuals
to request financial support for programs or events that contribute to the health, welfare, and overall
quality of life of Bethel residents, especially its most vulnerable populations;

WHEREAS, the Community Action Grant Technical Review Board was established to review and score
applications for funding and present its recommendation to City Council for approval;

WHEREAS, a review of the expected alcohol sales taxes to be collected by the end of June 2018
and attributed to the Community Action Grant is approximately $50,000 and this amount
is contained herein for the FY 2019 Budget.

Section 1.  The following sums of money may be needed or deemed necessary to provide for increased

expenses and liabilities of the City of Bethel are hereby appropriated for the corporate purposes and

objects of the City hereinafter specified for Fiscal Year 2019 (July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019).

Section 2.  The following is a summary of the changes by fund and department:

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Budget modification (a)

Account # Increases Amount

10-72-760 COMMUNITY ACTION GRANT 50,000.00

Total Increases 50,000.00 

Decreases

10-40-408 ALCOHOL SALES TAXES 50,000.00 

Total Decreases 50,000.00 

TOTAL Net Change to Community Action Grant allocation. 50,000.00 

Section 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance becomes effective immediately upon adoption.

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS ___ DAY OF JULY 2018 BY A VOTE OF __  IN FAVOR AND __  OPPOSED.

ATTEST:

                                                                                          ____________________________________
                                                                       Richard Robb, Mayor

_____________________________
Lori Strickler, City Clerk

Be it Enacted by the Bethel City Council that the FY 2019 Annual Budget be amended as follows:

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA

City Manager Williams
June 26, 2018
July 10, 2018

                    City of Bethel
Ordinance #18-12 (a)

1 of 1
73



18-50
June 26, 2018

74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



Note from City Clerk's Office: Document received in this condition from Original Source

84



Note from City Clerk's Office: Document received in this condition from Original Source

85



Note from City Clerk's Office: Document received in this condition from Original Source

86



18-51
June 26, 2018

87



18-09
June 26, 2018

88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



1 

City of Bethel Information Memorandum 

Title: Budget to Actual financial report for the 10 months ended April 30, 2018. 

Attachment(s): Expenditures with Comparison to Budget Report for Ten-Month Period Ending 
April 30, 2018. 

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

Administration 

Finance 

Amount of fiscal impact: Account information: 

None No fiscal impact at this time. 

Funds in City Budget. 

Funds not in City Budget. 

Summary Statement 

The attached financial report for the ten months ending April 30, 2018 was prepared 
and distributed to Bethel City Council members for their review.  

Information Memo No. 

Date introduced: Introduced by: Peter Williams, City Manager 
Amended actions: 

Confirmed by: 

18-10
June 26, 2018

99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



 

Mayor’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

120



 

City Manager’s Report 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



 

 
 

Management Team Reports 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

130



 

City Clerk’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

131



1 of 1 cityclerk@cityofbethel.net  

907-543-1384 

 

City of Bethel, Alaska 
City Clerk’s Office 
 

 
Council Meetings and Events 
June 28, 2018 Nuisance Abatement Hearing 
 
Burial Permits June 1 to June 19 
1 Burial Permit was issued.  
 
Passport Applications June 1 to June 19 
16 Passport Applications have been processed. 

 
Committee Training  
Now that the Public Works Committee is scheduled to receive training June 20.  
The City Clerk attended the Public Safety and Transportation Commission meeting to review parliamentary 
rules but a quorum of the body was not established.  
 
Alcohol Task Force 
Will meet June 19.  
 
Document Preparation/ Research 
Alcohol Task Force Meeting preparation.  
Public awareness posts related to alcohol. 
Claims ordinance review/modification with attorney.  
Appeal ordinance review/modification with attorney.  
Council Budget meeting minutes and action summaries. 
Alcohol use tax ordinance review and suggested modifications.  
Nuisance abatement hearing record/packet and notices.  
Website updates/cleanup.  
 

132

mailto:cityclerk@cityofbethel.net


 

 
 

Executive Session   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

133



 

Additional Information  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

134


	Approval of the Meeting Minutes
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Special Order of Business
	Unfinished Business
	New Business
	Mayor’s Report
	City Manager’s Report
	Management Team Reports
	City Clerk’s Report
	Executive Session
	Unfinished Business Public Hearing Budget Ordinance 17-28(p) BUDGET MOD - 17-28(p) -  INSURANCE  FINANCE FEES- 6.5.18 (1).pdf
	Bud Ord




